
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2016-0186
	Union Gas Limited


	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	1
November 22, 2016
Allison Duff
Cathy Spoel
Paul Pastirik
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2016-0186
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Application for approval to construct a natural gas

pipeline in the Township of Dawn Euphemia, the

Township of St. Clair and the Municipality of

Chatham-Kent and approval to recover the costs of

the pipeline.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Tuesday, November 22, 2016,

commencing at 9:36 a.m.

----------------------------------------
VOLUME 1
----------------------------------------
BEFORE:


ALLISON DUFF


Presiding Member


CATHY SPOEL 


Member


PAUL PASTIRIK 


Member
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

ZORA CRNOJACKI
Board Staff
NANCY MARCONI

CHARLES KEIZER
Union Gas Limited
CRAWFORD SMITH

MARK KITCHEN
JOHN WOLNIK
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)

TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

VINCE DeROSE
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

DWAYNE QUINN
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
IAN MONDROW
Industrial Gas Users' Association (IGUA)

RANDY AIKEN
London Property Managers Association (LPMA)

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG)/ Parkway

MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
MICHAEL JANIGAN
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC)
1--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.


2Appearances:


3Preliminary Matters:


7Presentation by Mr. Redford:


10Presentation by Mr. Shorts:


23UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


23Examination in-chief by Mr. Keizer:


25Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


41Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


55--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.


55--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.


55Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:


84Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


88Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:




29EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Excerpts from the EB-2016-0013 application.


41EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  IGUA table, chart on cumulative Panhandle design day demand growth


88EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOMA Cross-Examination compendium for Union Panel 1


127EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:   Opening statement


140EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  EB-2013-0202 settlement agreement


145EXHIBIT NO. K1.6: Cross-Examination Compendium for VECC for Union Panel 2




76UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO LOOK FOR THE STUDIES THAT MR. WOLNIK IS ASKING ABOUT AND TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE.


126UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  FOR M4 LARGE, TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE WHERE THERE IS NO CHANGE IN EITHER DEPRECIATION OR THE COST ALLOCATION


159UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE DIFFERENCE IN DEPRECIATION DURING THE TIME FRAME.






Tuesday, November 22, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  My name is Allison Duff, and I will be presiding today.  With me on the OEB Panel are Cathy Spoel and Paul Pastirik, both Board members.


The OEB is sitting to hear an application from Union Gas Limited for leave to construct a 40-kilometre pipeline of 36-inch diameter and for approval to recover the costs of construction.


Union's application is assigned file number EB-2016-0186, and is often referred to as the Panhandle Reinforcement Project.


To date the OEB has made provision for written interrogatories and responses, a transcribed technical conference, technical-conference undertakings and questions, filing of intervenor evidence, filing of questions regarding a motion, and interrogatories on the intervenor evidence.


In Procedural Order No. 2, the OEB decided to divide the issues into two parts:  The landowner and the non-landowner issues.  So the next two days are reserved to hear non-landowner issues.  The OEB has the hearing room on the third day, if needed.


Union's panels have been organized accordingly.  So I trust that everyone has a copy of the hearing plan, and it is a living document and is subject to change.  It reflects the time estimates provided by Union and the intervenors and it is just a guide to help everyone plan their attendance.


Based on the estimates provided, we should complete in two days.


So may I have appearances, please.


Appearances:

MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer on behalf of Union Gas Limited, and with me is Mr. Mark Kitchen and Ms. Karen Hockin of Union Gas.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  Tom Brett, appearing for the Building Owners and Managers Association.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel members.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow.


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members Spoel and Pastirik.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.


MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, John Wolnik, representing APPrO.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, Panel.  Vince DeRose, representing CME.  If I could also put in an appearance for Julie Girvan on behalf of CCC.  Ms. Girvan has -- while she is not here today, she has asked me to either make sure that certain questions are asked or ask them myself, and also I will be doing so on her behalf as well.


MS. DUFF:  Understood, thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Panel.  Randy Aiken on behalf of London Property Management Association.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Panel.  Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Janigan.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me today are Ms. Zora Crnojacki and Ms. Nancy Marconi.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Okay.  Are there any --


MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, just, sorry -- I should have also included in an appearance for Mr. Crawford Smith.  Unfortunately I have a personal commitment tomorrow morning that I cannot get out of, and so he will be appearing for Union Gas tomorrow morning.

Preliminary Matters:

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Are there any preliminary matters to deal with?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe there was the confidentiality issue that came up in some letters yesterday.


MS. DUFF:  True.  Other than the confidentiality request, is there any other issues?  Okay.


So regarding the confidential documents, to be clear, there were documents that were filed with Board Secretary, and they were afforded confidential treatment automatically pending a decision of the OEB.


So some parties, I understand, have signed affidavits in order to review these documents in their unredacted form.  I just want to make sure that I've got a listing and I understand exactly what the three documents are.


First, there was an interrogatory response from Union to the landowner group, and I think it was number 5, and the redacted portion had to deal with landowner compensation.


There was a second document.  It was an undertaking response from the technical conference, and I believe it was provided to Mr. Quinn, and it had redacted versions regarding daily consumption.


Then there was a third document, as I understand it, and this was in response to the questions asked during the -- well, it was FRPO's motion, and, in particular, there was two redacted versions.  So it was the answer to the motion, and it was attachment 2, pages 7 and 32.


Is that a complete list, Mr. Keizer?


MR. KEIZER:  Actually, just on the undertakings arising from the technical conference, it was, I think, JT1.9, which related to market consumption, information split by customer type in the Windsor market, and also Undertaking JT1.4 regarding summer market consumption data for electricity generators.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I will add that.


Regarding the first item that was the interrogatory response in P.O. Number 2, the Board afforded parties an opportunity to, if they had objections to the -- giving it confidential treatment, and that date was September 30th, and the Board received none.


In fairness, the parties have not had an opportunity to state if they have objections to the other three items.  So the Board will leave that for now and, perhaps after the lunch break, if anybody has objections, they can raise it with the Board at that time.


Now, Mr. Keizer, the first item on the list is that Union will present its case.  I see two panel members here.  Are these the people that will speak to that?


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  We have Mr. Jim Redford, who is vice-president, business development, storage, and transmission, and Mr. Chris Shorts, who is director, business development and upstream regulation.


They actually are going to be on panel 2, but they are going to present an overview.  So I am in your hands with respect to how you want to proceed, whether they need to be sworn for purposes of doing the overview, or we can do that as part of panel 2 and have them adopt any statements they made with respect to the overview at that time.


And as well, I guess to the extent there are questions in respect of anything they say in the overview, obviously that probably could be dealt with in the context of the cross-examination of the appropriate panel at that time.  So --


MS. DUFF:  I think it is my preference to have them affirmed now.


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.


MS. DUFF:  That may be easier.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PRESENTATION PANEL
Mr. Redford,

Mr. Shorts; Affirmed.


MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.


MS. DUFF:  The Board does have a few preliminary matters.


Regarding the schedule, Ms. Spoel just reminded me, in terms of -- I think we will have a morning break.  The schedule has changed versus the version that was sent yesterday at 4:32 p.m.


So in particular, Mr. Buonaguro, I think your time estimate has reduced, so we will plan for a morning break.


Regarding the lunch break, I think one hour at least is required, and the Board plans to break.  We really need to break at 12:30 to 1:30, so that will be a hard stop then if we have not reached it.


Okay.  So I just want to make sure everybody is aware of that schedule.


Mr. Keizer, do you want to proceed?


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will actually turn it over to Mr. Redford and Mr. Shorts to take you through a very short presentation, which will encompass the points which appear on the screen.


So I turn it over to them.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

Opening Statement by Mr. Redford:

MR. REDFORD:  Good morning, Panel.  Mr. Shorts and myself will be providing an overview of the project.  We will be taking you through each of the five points on the screen in front of you or behind me.


And let me start with need.  Beginning in the winter of 2017/2018 there is no pipeline capacity available to attach firm in-franchise customers in the areas served by the Panhandle Transmission System.


Union's already having to say no to incremental firm load requests from contract rate customers and without the proposed facilities, we will need to refuse service requests from general service customers, including residential customers.

Union has significant unfulfilled demand for its firm service on the Panhandle system.  In addition to the existing unfulfilled demand, Union has received incremental requests for firm service since this application was filed with the Board.

The demand for firm service comes from all market segments and geographic areas across Union's Panhandle system.  Union is in the process of contracting for the forecasted 2017 contract rate class demand, and already has indications of further strong demand for 2018.

Reinforcing the Panhandle transmission system is necessary -- is a necessary investment, pardon me -- in order to attach any customers, even general service customers, and is fundamental to the economic well-being of this area, the province and, more broadly, Ontario.

The proposed project provides competitive and affordable energy supply, assists to retain industry and business and attract new industry and business.  It helps encourage economic growth, and will create employment opportunities.

Without further capacity, economic development in the region will be negatively impacted.  Businesses will choose to locate to other jurisdictions where affordable natural gas is available, and existing businesses will not proceed with expansions, nor will new businesses be attracted to this area, all resulting in lost job opportunities and home owners will need to pay for more expensive energy options.

Let me now address the second and third item, why Union's current Panhandle system cannot accommodate that need, and how the proposed project satisfies that need.

The Panhandle transmission system consists of two pipelines.  The NPS 16 pipeline, which runs from Dawn to Ojibway, and the NPS 20 pipeline, which runs from Dawn to the Sandwich compressor station then ultimately connects back into the NPS 16 pipeline at what's called the NPS 16/ NPS 20 junction.

The NPS 16 pipeline serves Chatham-Kent and the northern half of Essex county, while the NPS 20 pipeline serves the southern half of Essex county.

The city of Windsor is served by both the NPS 16 pipeline and the NPS 20 pipeline.

The flow from the NPS 20 pipeline is controlled at Sandwich to optimize flow between the NPS 20 and NPS 16 pipelines into Windsor, and to retain the greatest amount of capacity on the NPS 20 pipeline to serve the Leamington-Kingsville market.

Approximately 90 percent of the design day Panhandle system demand is served from the Dawn hub, where Union's gas -- where Union's storage and gas supply is located.

Approximately 10 percent of the design day Panhandle system demand is served using Union's firm gas supply for sale service customers, which arises at Ojibway via Panhandle eastern pipeline.

With respect to Ojibway, the ability to import gas into Union's system is limited by the ability of the local market to consume that gas, and the ability of the existing transmission system and Sandwich camp compressor station to move the remainder back towards Dawn.

In the summer, the firm import capability is limited to 115 tJs per day.  And in the winter, the firm import capability is limited to 140 tJs per day.

At Ojibway, Union relies on 60 tJs a day of gas supply to meet Panhandle transmission system demand on design day.

Union has historically contracted for capacity to import gas at Ojibway, providing diversity to its gas supply portfolio.

Since 2013, Union's firm Ojibway imports have had the effect of deferring reinforcement of the Panhandle transmission system.

Growth in both the Windsor and Leamington-Kingsville markets requires additional flow on the NPS 20 pipeline that cannot be delivered by the existing facilities.  To increase capacity, higher pressured gas must be carried further west on the NPS 20 pipeline toward the market area.

The proposed NPS 36 pipeline, which replaces a portion of the existing NPS 16 pipeline, will increase the pressure along the existing NPS 20 pipeline, in turn raising the inlet pressure to the existing laterals that service the distribution markets and increasing firm capacity of the Panhandle transmission system.

I will turn it over to Mr. Shorts to address the fourth item.
Opening Statement by Mr. Shorts:

MR. SHORTS:  Thank you, Mr. Redford.  As part of its prefiled evidence, Exhibit A, tab 6, Union considered a number of alternatives, including other facility designs, additional supply at Ojibway combined with new facilities, and LNG CNG alternatives.

All of these alternatives were less economic than the proposed project and were not practical solutions.  For the most part, these alternatives rely on the sixty tJs of firm supply arriving at Ojibway on a design day.

Union is comfortable that this level of supply, sourced through Panhandle eastern, provides the appropriate level of diversity to its gas supply portfolio, while supporting the western end of the Panhandle system.

To that end, Union and Panhandle eastern have had continued discussions with respect to capacity and the required contracting terms.

Union has consistently been interested in ensuring that 60 tJs a day in total firm transportation capacity is controlled by Union at Ojibway.

As part of the sixty tJ per day today, Union relies on a delivered service from a third party of 21 tJs per day to provide firm supply to Ojibway.

The contract for that delivered service expires on October 31st, 2019, and does not have renewal rights.  Union has noted that this 21 tJs per day of delivered supply may not be available after October 31st, 2019.  Without the delivered supply, it will create a situation where design day demand cannot be satisfied.

As an update, Union has very recently agreed to contract for 23 tJs per day of firm transportation to Ojibway on Panhandle eastern starting November 1st of 2019 to provide certainty post 2019.

Union will also renew its 37 tJs per day of existing transportation contracts with Panhandle eastern, effective November 1 of 2017.

All of this capacity includes right Of first refusal provisions.  This secures 60 tJs a day of long-term firm transportation to Ojibway to support the western end of the Panhandle system, and puts Union back in the position that we have been since 2012.

This contracting arrangement is consistent with Union's proposal in this proceeding.

As can be seen in the communications filed as part of this proceeding, Rover pipeline has been interested in contracting for transportation capacity on Union's system from Ojibway to Dawn since 2015.

I can also report that the Rover Pipeline will be contracting for the remaining 35 tJs per day of existing capacity on Union's system from Ojibway to Dawn through a long term renewable C1 transportation contract.

Rover Pipeline will be using this capacity to provide its shippers with a delivered service to Dawn.  This contract increases the committed capacity from Ojibway to Dawn on Union's system to the full 115 tJ a day described earlier.

Let me turn now to why additional imports at Ojibway are not a viable option.  It has been suggested that more supply at Ojibway is a pipeline capacity solution.

Union does not support that notion and does not believe it is prudent.  As stated earlier, Union supports 60 tJs per day of Ojibway deliveries in the sales service gas supply portfolio.

Let me start by saying that the lack of liquidity at Ojibway does not support purchasing supply at that point.  There is limited flow at this trans-shipment point between the two pipeline systems, there are a limited number of counter parties to do business with, and there is a lack of transparency at Ojibway as it is not a reported trading point.

The only way to truly obligate supply at Ojibway is for Union to control the supply, similar to how Union controls 90 percent of the supply for the Panhandle transmission system that comes from Dawn.

Union can control supply to Ojibway by contracting for firm transportation capacity on Panhandle eastern, or through a firm delivered service, such as the delivered supply service we have now.

Union has discussed this issue of obligated flow through Ojibway with the Rover Pipeline, and while Rover pipeline would consider such an arrangement for up to the 35 tJs per day, Union would still be required to control the supply by purchasing from Rover shippers at Dawn.

The agreements associated with such an obligation would be complex.

This would, in effect, limit Union to purchasing supply from only Rover shippers in the much larger Dawn market for this 35 tJs per day of supply.

Our view is that Rover shippers will price supply to reflect Union's next best option, which for an obligation at Ojibway would be supply-delivered from the mid-continent, more specifically the Panhandle Field Zone.

This supply would, therefore, likely be priced at a premium significantly higher than Dawn supply, as we have noted in our pre-filed evidence and the various information responses.

In fact, Union has had past experience in markets with very few supply options.  Prior to building the Burlington-Oakville pipeline Union relied on a delivered service from third parties.  The price of that service increased three-fold as the alternatives for supply became limited.

There is also some uncertainty that supply will be available from Rover shippers at Dawn to support any obligated deliveries at Ojibway starting November 1 of 2017.

The Rover pipeline project remains targeted for an in-service date of November 1, 2017 to Vector and Dawn.  However, it is unclear at this point what the utilization will be at November 1, 2017, assuming the Rover Pipeline is constructed on time, particularly as producers ramp up production to fill their capacity, build mid-stream assets to connect to the production area, and seek premium markets served by the Rover pipeline, including the Gulf Coast.

Union does not control the Rover supply to Dawn, and therefore this would create significant price and availability risk.

With respect to the notion of securing 175 tJs of supply at Ojibway, Union cannot support this suggestion.  175 tJs per day represents 35 percent of Union's total sales service gas supply.  A commitment of this size would significantly reduce the diversity in Union's gas supply portfolio.

Dawn purchases and the ability to contract other paths, such as delivered services or, for example, Michigan supply, would be reduced to less than 20 tJs per day in a portfolio that is nearly 500 tJs per day, eliminating flexibility currently built into Union's gas supply plan.

175 tJs would amount to a significant commitment to the mid-continent purchases at Panhandle field zone, which are at a premium to Dawn and certain other sources.

For all of these reasons, Union does not support an increase in reliance on firm Ojibway supply, whether that be an additional 35 tJs per day or a total of 175 tJs per day, to satisfy the demands of the growing Panhandle system market.

The proposed project eliminates the uncertainty surrounding incremental obligated supply through Ojibway and locks in the costs for our customers.  In other words, the proposed project effectively manages price and availability risk while meeting the growing needs of those customers.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Shorts, Mr. Redford.

That is the presentation by Union.  Our suggestion would be that we move to panel 1 and take that stage, and then obviously anything arising with respect to the overview could be discussed or questioned in the context of cross-examination of panel 1 and panel 2.

MS. DUFF:  I think that's fine.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could ask panel 1 to come forward.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MR. KEIZER:  For purposes of having the witnesses affirmed, maybe I can introduce them, starting with the witness closest to --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I wonder if before Mr. Keizer introduces Union's panel I could offer something to the panel, with your leave, and it has to do with the presentation that we just heard, which is why I would like to raise it now.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  The presentation that we just heard -- and I will have to review the transcript when we get it, but it contained what I think is a bunch of new information, in particular in respect to Rover contracting.

I was just consulting with Mr. Quinn, who you may know is going to take the lead on the Ojibway alternative, but it is a matter that IGUA is intensely interested in, and I wanted to raise this now, and we will have to consider this as the morning goes on.  But it may well be that parties will need some extra time to digest what I believe was brand-new information.

The Ojibway alternative has been subject, as you know, to interrogatories, technical-conference enquiries, and a motion, and through all that this is the first that we have heard about the 35 tJs a day of Rover contracting, the need for Union to acquire that gas from Rover shippers at Dawn, and I think the first we have heard of the 175 tJ alternative as well from Union.

So after we have come this far in the proceeding, to hear about that for the first time today on the issue that will be central to this application is a bit disturbing to me.

And as I say, I wanted to register the objection now, but in respect of relief, I am hesitating to ask for it now.  I will have to consult with some of my colleagues who have also been involved on this issue, but it may be that questions on that matter for panel 2 will, in any event of the schedule, be requested to be deferred at least 'til tomorrow and, you know, potentially beyond, but I am not sure yet what the implications of that are.  I wanted to register that now.  I am not seeking direction from the Panel, but I thought it would be appropriate to put it on the record at this point.

MS. DUFF:  I understand your position.

Any other parties want to make a comment at this stage?

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sorry.  I wasn't sure my mic was on.

I do support what Mr. Mondrow is saying.  There is two or three items that, in my view, are just coming up for the first time today:  Union's purchasing of gas, November 2019 and beyond.  The Panhandle field zone was declared to be a higher price than Dawn, and from my recollection from Union's incremental transportation analysis that they file annually is not consistent.

I am struggling with -- I was trying to keep up with notes to be able to make sure that I could address some of these points, but I don't see anywhere in the evidence where Union has put in the evidence that that Panhandle field zone price is higher, because they in fact have talked about being in the Nexus application an attractive place to buy gas.

So all that being considered, I support what Mr. Mondrow is saying, and we are requesting leave at least until tomorrow to be able to read through the transcript in this area.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, the information with respect to Rover and the arrangements that were outlined, I believe Mr. Shorts said by way of update, and maybe it should have been highlighted that it was more than -- that it was an update, that those are circumstances that arose and have arisen very recently and so were conveyed by way of an update to facilitate and, you know, recognizing that, you know, we don't want to delay things or otherwise with respect to the proceeding.

Subject to conferring further with Union, given the fact that the presenters, I thought, stuck fairly close to a written text, I believe, but I would need to just want to confirm that, we may be able to provide the notes which the presenters referred to as part of their statements.

So as a courtesy so that they don't have to necessarily -- my friends don't have to necessarily wait to see the transcript tonight to be able to review it, subject to their view as to what they want to do with that, but it was presented by way of an update.  It wasn't meant to be a surprise, or it wasn't something that people were holding back on.  It was something that has been resolved in the last very few days.

And so I think that was the purpose of it.  Not to catch people unawares, and not to deal with it -- with respect to the 175, I believe there were questions, interrogatories with respect to the ability to move certain amount of gas because of compressor changes at Sandwich, but I believe also my friend from FRPO makes reference to the 175 in correspondence that he has provided to the Board.  So that was the other reason why it was picked up within the context of the presentation.

But those are our submissions with respect to it.

[Board Panel confers.]

MS. DUFF:  Well, I noted that the 35 was new, and I was thinking I'm going to have to read the transcript, but if you have the documents available in written form that you can distribute to the parties before the transcript is usually, you know, released at the end of the day, I think that would be helpful.  And after parties review it, then they can tell us if they're prepared to proceed.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  And the documents I am referring to are the speaking notes that were used by the presenters with respect to it.

MS. DUFF:  And that could be filed as evidence.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  It certainly could be marked as an exhibit, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair, for that indulgence.

I wonder if it would be possible, also, to have at least the first half hour of the transcript produced and circulated this morning, if that is not too much trouble for the transcribers, just something perhaps they could advise us of at the break.

MS. DUFF:  Sure.  I'll have --


MR. MILLAR:  We'll look into that, Madam Chair.  I think often a rough cut can be prepared, but we will see what can be done.

MS. DUFF:  Great.  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, and I apologize for the interruption.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, Madam Chair, Mr. Keizer referred to the 175 that we had requested that Union provide a schematic.  If Union could provide that also at the same time, that way we are not -- we are trying to be respectful of the Board's desire not to be asking for undertakings and not being able to ask questions.  So we had asked for that to be provided in advance, so that we could prepare questions.

MR. KEIZER:  This relates to correspondence Mr. Quinn has filed, asking us to prepare -- asking a question and an undertaking by way of writing that we prepare certain schematics which we received on Saturday night.  And so Union has not prepared those schematics, although they may be able to address certain questions with respect to the directional aspects related to his inquiry based upon what was previously filed in evidence.

It is an issue of timing, but it is also an issue in the fact that we weren't required to provide further undertakings, and we also weren't certain as to the relevance or to the foundations upon which the questions were to be asked.

Until we understood that within the context of the cross-examination, we have not prepared that schematic.  But obviously, we are prepared to answer any questions in respect to the scenario that he is proposing.

MS. DUFF:  I wasn't aware of any Saturday night request, and just that it didn't come through the Board Secretary's office.

MR. KEIZER:  The letter was, I believe, filed or addressed to the Board Secretary.

MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.  Is your request, Mr. Quinn, related to the opening comments specifically, or more to the request that came in that you sent on Saturday?

MR. QUINN:  On the request that I made on Saturday, I specifically asked for simulation to be done where just two numbers were substituted.  175 was substituted for 140, which in our view doesn't take that long; fifteen minutes maybe to print it.

That is what we are hoping to be able to see and test the efficacy of that type of approach with numbers in front of us.  I am referring to some advice I got from the electricity proceedings, where there was a desire by the panel members not to have undertakings requested at the hearing, and then not be able to ask questions about that.

So I was trying to do this in advance to aid the Board in having numbers in front of it for purposes of questions.

MS. DUFF:  I see them as two separate matters.  So let's deal with the issue about the preliminary comments made, and the attempt for the transcript and the written notes, and let's leave it at that.

I will need to review the corpse myself.  Obviously, I haven't had a chance to do that.

So perhaps we can now proceed with panel number 1.  This is a two-day hearing; we have two panels.  To the extent questions need to defer until the next day, I hope Union is able to accommodate that.



MR. KEIZER:  We will do whatever we can to accommodate the Board.  We apologize for any inconvenience we may have caused the Board by virtue of a presentation.  The intention was to convey the new information.  Maybe we should have highlighted it in a very different way.

But it is very current information; it is not something that has been somehow sat upon or held back.

But I am happy to proceed with panel 1.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  On that then, perhaps the witnesses -- you can introduce them and they can then be affirmed.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Thank you.  Starting with the witness that is closest to me is Ms. Amy Mikhaila.  Next to her is Mr. Mark Isherwood, and then finally, Ms. Jacqueline Caille.  I would ask they be affirmed.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1

Mark Isherwood,

Amy Mikhaila,
Jacqueline Caille, Affirmed

Examination in-chief by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  I just have some very brief questions in direct.

Starting first with you, Ms. Mikhaila, you are the manager, rates and pricing?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I am.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Union Gas since 2006?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I have.

MR. KEIZER:   And during that period, you have held various positions of increasing responsibility?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I have.

MR. KEIZER:  And you hold a designation as a chartered professional accountant?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas, adopt the evidence that's been filed on behalf of Union Gas Limited?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Isherwood, you are the vice-president, sales, marketing and customer care, is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee with Union Gas since 1982?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have.

MR. KEIZER:  And during that time, you have had positions of increasing responsibility?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas Limited, adopt the evidence that's been filed in this matter by Union Gas?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Ms. Caille, you are the director, residential, commercial and industrial sales?

MS. CAILLE:  I am.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been with the company for -- since 1993 -- or 1989, sorry.

MS. CAILLE:  Yes, correct, 1989.

MR. KEIZER:  And during that time, you have had positions of increasing responsibility throughout the organization?

MS. CAILLE:  I have.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you, on behalf of Union Gas, adopt the evidence that's filed in this proceeding by Union Gas?

MS. CAILLE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, those are our questions in direct.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  We're five minutes ahead of schedule and, on that note, Mr. Buonaguro, I believe you are next.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I am Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

I am going to focus on two areas in my relatively short cross-examination.  The first is the need and growth issues, and then I have a little bit on the combined questions on depreciation and the capital pass-through mechanism which were assigned to this panel.

So first with respect to need and growth, I was going to ask you generally.  But I took it from the presentation that preceded your panel coming up that with respect to the need and growth aspects of the application, relative to when you filed the application, the need for firm capacity and the potential for growth in that need over the near term has increased.  Is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  We have actually, over the summer, have continued to receive, as we always do -- it's normal business to receive additional requests for firm capacity beyond the 2017 expansion.

So it will likely be in 2018, but those requests are coming in as we speak.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So generally speaking, your outlook in the near term, medium term, and long-term is either unchanged or more favourable?  There is more need for firm capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our forecast and evidence for 2018 was for 15 tJs a day.  And just requests; we have not gone back to contract with this group of new customers, but if you add up the new customer growth, it's about 28 or 29 tJs.  So it is a bit stronger in 2018, which gives us, I guess, confidence in the short term forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, as I mentioned, my clients are members of the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers, so I am going to focus a little time on that specific section of the market.

My understanding, from a regulatory perspective, the greenhouse growers in the Leamington area, which is served by the Panhandle system, began illustrating or attracting need -- a needed response from Union in approximately 2012, which is when what's called the Leamington phase 1 project was applied for?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that was a response specifically to unserved firm capacity demand in the Leamington area?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that was in approximately November of 2012?  I believe that is when the -- the application was filed November 23rd, 2012.  Presumably, that was a need that was identified during that year and resulted in the application?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  We went to an expression of interest out in the marketplace.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the result of that proceeding was a distribution project, local to Leamington?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it was worth approximately $8.2 million capital costs?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And essentially, you were contracted with a number of customers, largely and I am assuming mostly, growers in the area to underpin the distribution costs associated with that project?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that was done by having them commit to multi-year contracts?

MS. CAILLE:  Customers were given the choice of a term contract or committing financial assurances upfront.  The majority of the customers selected term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, to skip ahead a couple of years, my understanding is the capacity that was provided under that phase 1 project wasn't sufficient to meet the growing demands in that area, was it?

MS. CAILLE:  The capacity for phase 1 was intended to last a couple of years, and it sold out faster than anticipated.  Thus, we brought forward a second application to build a pipeline, known as Leamington Phase 2, in to serve that market for the incremental demand that had arisen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the EB number for that, for those who are interested, is EB-2016-0013?

MS. CAILLE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that application was heard by the Board at the beginning of this year?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you refer to that specifically in the evidence, and I will bring up the reference.

My apologies, I have just lost my reference.  Exhibit A, tab 5, page 7, starting at line 12.  You are speaking here about what I just referred to, the Phase 2 Leamington expansion pipeline project?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you summarize here at line 17:

"More specifically, Union was unable to serve approximately 48 tJs per day of identified firm demand in the Leamington-Kingsville area."

That is sort of -- the end result of that project is that, although there was new capacity built, there was still unmet demand in the area for firm capacity.

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.  For people wanting firm service we had to provide an allocation, because there wasn't sufficient capacity in that pipeline build.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That is actually where I was going to bring you next, because I thought it would be worth a little more detail than that.  So I sent out a reference very early this morning.  I apologize.

The reference was to EB-2016-0013, and it was the pre-filed evidence, page 3.  So hopefully the Board got that.  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is evidence from the actual Leamington 2 expansion?  Is that correct?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, so this is right on the application.  Basically it provides more detail about the prorating that you just talked about.

So paragraphs 19 and 20.  I don't know if it is on the screen.  No.

So again, the reference is EB-2016-0013, page 3 of 15 of the application.  I don't think we need to turn it up.  I'm just -- because I think between you and I we can summarize what it says, although someone looks like they're about to hand it out.  I don't...

MR. MILLAR:  We have copies.  And perhaps we should mark this, Mr. Buonaguro?  Is it on the record already?

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is straight off the record from the 0013 proceeding.  So I don't think it needs to be marked as an exhibit, but I am happy to have it marked.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's mark it for identification, because it is not from this proceeding.  So that will be Exhibit K1.1, and it is excerpts from the EB-2016-0013 application.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Excerpts from the EB-2016-0013 application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to summarize the project, actually, in terms of scope, that project was approximately $12.3 million, and again, it was a distribution project?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And again, it was underpinned by contracts with essentially growers in the area using multi-year contracts?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the details are in the application.  Thank you.

Now, I bring this us because -- and at paragraphs 19 and 20 it talks about this prorating.  So I am not going to read it verbatim, but essentially the initial proposed capacity in metres cubed per hour is just under 52,000.  The demand in the expression of interest was almost 130,000.

So you didn't have enough.  Right?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so what you did -- well, and if you talk about who was asking, there were 62 customers with 73 bids.  I assume that means that there were 62 customers and some of those customers had multiple locations in the area?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if all of them had continued with their expression of interest based on a prorating they would have only received 40 percent of what they asked for.  Right?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, when you only offer them 40 percent, some of them presumably dropped off, and you ended up with 44 customers at 55 locations, and they all got approximately 44 percent of the firm demand they'd requested.

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this was -- this expression of interest was at the end of 2015, I believe?

MS. CAILLE:  It began July and closed August 21st, 2015.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So at the end of -- if I can summarize, beginning in 2012 you have a need to meet the demands -- the firm capacity demands of the growers in this area.

You've gone through two applications to increase the distribution facilities to try and meet that demand, and at a cost of approximately $20 million, underpinned by contracts with these growers to provide the required distribution revenue to pay for those facilities.

And it looks like even after all that most of the growers in the area are getting less than 50 percent of the firm capacity they say they require.  Is that fair?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  There's still unfulfilled demand for firm capacity, which brought this proceeding forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's because the only remaining constraint to bringing gas into that area is the transmission, capacity constraint.

MS. CAILLE:  The primary constraint is the transmission from an immediate perspective.  There may be future distribution reinforcements required down the road as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My apologies.  So there may be versions of the Leamington expansion phases depending on the specifics of --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You always line up the next project.  So the next project to firm capacity is the Panhandle system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But to say something I think is obvious, there is no point in doing those projects now because you need to do the transmission project first.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is the next in line.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, and back to this proceeding, the result of all this is a clear need for firm capacity in this area of -- and I think in the application you refer to 48 tJs of unmet demand just from that expression of interest?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that was in 2015.  So going into 2017 when this project would go into service if approved, you're seeing -- I think you have already said that you have seen that demand actually increase in the very short-term.

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We should also mention also demand in Windsor area as well.  Not all Leamington.  So there is some other in the area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Absolutely.  And I am sure the Windsor people are going to say something about it, or not.  I am just trying to focus on this particular problem.  Thank you.
So that is my set of questions with respect to the need from my client's perspective.  I do have some questions on the depreciation proposal.  And I am going to start with a reference at Exhibit -- from this proceeding Exhibit A, tab 3, page 7.  So I am starting at line 13, and there it says:

"The uncertainty created by cap and trade and the CCP has driven the need for Union to calculate the revenue requirement and resulting rate impacts based on an estimated 20-year useful life of the project assets rather than the weighted average useful life of approximately 50 years based on Board-approved depreciation rates."

So my first question with respect to this, when you are referring to Board-approved depreciation rates I am assuming you mean the last time the Board approved your suite of depreciation rates, which would have been the EB-2011-0210 proceeding for the 2013 test year?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And if I move ahead to the second reference that I sent out last night, which is EB-2013-0202, Exhibit A, tab 1, page 32.  This is the settlement proposal which governs the IRM period, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And at page 32 there is -- sorry, page 31.  My apologies.  On page 31 it starts to talk about what qualifies for Y-factor treatment as a capital pass-through.  Are you with me?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, sorry. Are you on page 31?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am at page 31 of 54, it looks like.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so it says -- at line 12, it says the criteria that must be for any capital project to qualify for Y-factor treatment are as follows, and the first bullet -- the reason I started on page 31 is because it talks about the minimum -- the rate impact threshold, and it says a minimum increase or minimum decrease of five million dollars in net delivery revenue requirement for a single new project, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thanks.  If we go over the page, it actually speaks specifically how to determine the net delivery revenue requirement in a year and, at lines 9 and 10, it says:
"Depreciation expense will be calculated using the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates."
Do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, in order to qualify for the Y-factor treatment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the way you answered that question suggests to me you are anticipating what I am trying to figure out, because your proposal is to not use the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates for this project, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you seem to be agreeing with me that for the purpose of the capital pass-through, you have to use the 2013 depreciation rates.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  So Union did calculate the net revenue requirement using Board-approved depreciation rates, and it still met the criteria for Y-factor treatment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now my understanding -- and I am going by memory.  My understanding is that the calculated net revenue requirement for 2017 under your proposal is 4.8 million, based on the forecast?  Is that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It is 4.8, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is close to the five million dollar threshold based on how you calculated it, but it --


MS. MIKHAILA:  But that is in 2017.  In 2018, the final year of the IRM, it well exceeds the five million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you exceed it under either set of the depreciation rates, wouldn't it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in terms of the capital pass-through amounts, there may be a difference in your ability to recover, whether the Board were to allow you one set of depreciation or another for 2017.  Because I think under 2017, under the approved Board depreciation rates, the net revenue is something like 300,000.  It is very small.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  It is provided in appendix B.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. MIKHAILA:  The net is 100,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that's how the capital pass-through works.  I think I am understanding what you're saying with respect to that.

However, my understanding of the settlement agreement was that you were bound by the 2013 depreciation rates for the project until rebasing, and you don't seem to be having that same understanding.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Our interpretation is that in the agreement that was used to calculate the -- in order to qualify for Y-factor treatment, but we have proposed something different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying -- you're suggesting that you can apply for whatever depreciation rates you want, as long as you use a 2013 depreciation rates for the Y capital pass-through?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's our interpretation.

MS. DUFF:  I just have one question.  Sorry, can I interrupt for a second?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Absolutely.

MS. DUFF:  So what is your 2017 trigger to allow for the capital pass-through to be considered?  What dollar amount is that?  Is that the five million?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  According to the IRM settlement Agreement, the net delivery revenue has to qualify -- has to exceed five million in any year of the IRM term, and it does exceed that in 2018.

MS. DUFF:  Do you look at the factors independently?  So with respect to a capital project, what is the effect on the revenue requirement alone?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Of that project alone, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think we're in agreement, though, that if the Board were to allow you to change the applicable depreciation rates, you might qualify for 2017 and you would qualify for 2018.

But if the Board doesn't allow you to change the depreciation rates applicable to the project, you probably won't come close to qualifying in 2017, and you probably still would have qualified for 2018.

MS. MIKHAILA:  The criteria is to exceed the five million in any year.  So although it is not exceeded in 2015, the project would still qualify in 2017.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just talking about the specific revenue requirement.

So under the existing Board depreciation rates, you would get relief for 2018, but you wouldn't get relief for 2017.  The project would apply.

MS. MIKHAILA:  No.  The capital pass-through criteria would apply in each year of the IRM period.

The agreement requires you to exceed the five million in any year, but each year of the IRM, capital pass-through would be applicable.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The trigger is five million any year of the IRM.  Once it is triggered, then it applies for the entire period in the IRM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I understand your position now.  I think I can leave the rest to argument.  So those are my questions, thank you.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I will just comment that in all capital pass-through projects, the five million was exceeded in one or multiple years, but not necessarily every year of all capital -- all previous capital pass-through projects that have been approved.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, it is Michael Millar here.  I am loath to interfere with the hearing plan, because I know how much work Ms. Crnojacki put into it.

As I listened to Mr. Buonaguro's questions -- Board Staff has very limited questions of this panel, but they really do sort of follow up on what he asked.  I don't want to be unfair to my friends, and it is possible that the answers Union gives me may elicit further questions from other parties.

So with -- I'm sorry to raise this at this point, but it really only occurred to me now.  With the Panel's permission, I would actually suggest Staff goes before the other parties, even though we ordinarily go last.

I am in  Board's hands, of course.  I don't want to be unfair to any of the other parties.

MS. DUFF:  Any objections?  Actually, I personally would like some clarity on this issue.  So if you have more questions, the timing is good, I think.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am not sure we will cover your questions, to be honest.  It is a very limited cross-examination, so I am not sure anything will come of it at all.

MS. DUFF:  With those expectations, please proceed.

MR. MILLAR:  Very low.

MR. MILLAR:  So if I may proceed, Madam Chair?

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  Just a couple of things I wanted to go over with this panel.

I am reluctant to anticipate the arguments of my friends when it comes to final argument, but from what I have gleaned from the interrogatories and the evidence thus far, it may well be suggested by some parties that a delay of some sort is warranted in going forward with this project.

Whether it be to sort out what is happening with Rover, or to consider the implications of cap and trade, some parties may be suggesting a delay.

So to the extent it hasn't already been covered -- and I know it has been touched on in the prefiled evidence and indeed in your responses to Mr. Buonaguro -- I am hoping Union can walk me through what the implications would be of, let's imagine a two or three-year delay.

Could you walk me through what that would mean to Union's customers and to Union, and for gas supply in that area.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So a delay in the project beyond November 1, 2017, in service would mean we cannot firm up the customers that we have been talking about at Leamington.  We cannot firm up the customers in Windsor.  We can't attach any new customers in anywhere in the Panhandle system.  We can't attach residential, commercial.

So it is not a matter of delay of two years, three years.  If we delay past November 1st, we just physically are out of capacity.  So it would mean no firming up.  It would mean no new customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe my friends will review this with you.  You have considered other options, whether it be by  -- Rover's one of the things that has been discussed by going through Ojibway.  Are there any short term measures that could help bridge, say, a two or three-year gap?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The alternative that we are bringing forward is considered to be the best alternative, and the panel tomorrow can speak to that in great detail.  But we would say no, there are no short term alternatives.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think that covers my questions.  That is helpful.  My friends may follow up, but that is what Board Staff wanted to explore.

So that is all there is, Madam Chair.  Thank you for your indulgence.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. MONDROW:  I am, Madame Chair.  I have one aid to examination which I did provide to Union, albeit I think only yesterday.  And I have some copies obviously for the panel and the parties.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be the IGUA -- we'll call it a compendium.  Just one page?

MR. MONDROW:  One page, a table.

MR. MILLAR:  The IGUA table, Madam Chair.  It is a chart on cumulative Panhandle design day demand growth, and it will be exit K1.2.  And we will bring you copies. 


EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  IGUA table, chart on cumulative Panhandle design day demand growth
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I thought this -- I didn't realize how useful this chart would be when I prepared it, but listening to this morning I think it might help -- certainly might help me, so I will come to that in a moment.

Good morning, gentleman and ladies.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Good morning.

MR. MONDROW:  Subject to digesting what we heard this morning, I think I can proceed to ask you a few questions on the Panel 1 topics.

I think we can agree that this project entails a significant investment for Union and for its ratepayers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that there will be material short- and long-term rate impacts from this investment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And those rate impacts will be even more material; that is, rates will increase more, obviously, under your 20-year depreciation proposal than under the standard depreciation rates?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they do.

MR. MONDROW:  And am I correct, I think your evidence reveals that you will be reviewing the depreciation period for all of your assets, both existing and future, in light of climate-change developments as part of your 2019 test-year rebasing application?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we will.

MR. MONDROW:  And that application will be filed at the end of 2017 or early 2018?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the 20-year depreciation proposal is intended to address uncertainty in the demand for service on your system in the medium- and long-term rather than the short-term.  That is, it doesn't -- that uncertainty doesn't influence your forecast for the next couple of years, but going out four years, five years, and beyond, the uncertainty presented by the climate-change policy gets manifested at that point, the medium- and long-term; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was a question we got from a number of intervenors, so we consolidated the answer into the Board Staff 4(c) as a fairly detailed explanation of what we view the risk profile.  So we actually view the risk in the short-term to be non-existent.  It is a very robust forecast.

In the medium-term we think there is not much risk, obviously always some risk, but not much risk.  It is really the longer-term, and we define longer-term being beyond the 15- or 20-year forecast.  Why we picked kind of 20 years as being the depreciation period, not to say that the pipe won't be -- have a useful life beyond that from a physical point of view, but from an economic point of view we viewed 20 years as being a reasonable solution to the depreciation, or a reasonable choice for a depreciation period.

MR. MONDROW:  So Mr. Isherwood, if I could just maybe hone in on the uncertainty in your ability or the limitation in your ability to forecast demand arising from climate-change policies.

Are you saying that between years 1 and 15 of your current forecast there is no uncertainty and the uncertainty is really in the 15- to -- 15-year and beyond period?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, we define mid-term as being 15 to 20 years.  So it is not a defined 15- or 20-year number.  It is kind of in that range.  We view the risks to be lower.  Not zero, but lower.  We really consider the risks to get higher in '15 and beyond, which we would call the longer-term.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So in any event, we can agree that beyond the -- within the five-year planning period which this project is intended to address there is no uncertainty as a result of climate-change policies?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We believe we have a very robust forecast.

MR. MONDROW:  I am correct in characterizing this project as addressing five years of planning; that is, even at the time of your pre-filed material the evidence is that's beyond five years starting in November 2017 and five years thereafter, you will need additional capacity; that is, this project only addresses that five-year planning period, at least as filed?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As currently forecast, we'd expect to do additional projects beyond five years.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And is it fair for me to conclude that within that five-year period, at some point within that five-year period, we will likely obtain greater certainty in respect of the impact on demand of climate-change policies in Ontario and Canada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure about that.  So if you go to the climate-change action plan which came out in June of this year, the Ontario government made it very clear what the targets are for CO2 reduction or greenhouse gas reduction.  And by 2020 it is a reduction of 15 percent, by 2030 a reduction of 37 percent, and by 2050 a reduction of 80 percent.

So when we add 20 years on to 2017, that takes it out to 2037.  So it is actually between the 2030 target of 37 percent reduction and the 2050 target of an 80 percent reduction.

So those numbers are pretty solid, and just reading the Globe & Mail recently, but the federal target for 2015 is very similar.  It's 80 percent reduction of greenhouse gases, so those targets are large and they're looming and they're sort of in the period beyond 20 years, or beyond 15 years for sure.

MR. MONDROW:  So Mr. Isherwood, do you think that there is certainty at this point on the impact on demand for natural gas on your system as a result of what we know now about climate-change policies?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say this, Mr. Mondrow.  I think in Ontario there is two large sectors that contribute to greenhouse gases, transportation fuels and natural gas.  Both coincidentally are about the same impact.  So it's not to say that transportation fuels may not take a bigger burden of the 80 percent and natural gas takes less, or it could be vice versa.  We do think natural gas brings solutions to climate change.  We often talk about compressed natural gas for large trucks on the 401, for example.  Actually sees a bit more natural gas being used, but to the benefit of the provincial targets it actually reduces carbon dioxide.

We talk about renewable natural gas being added to natural gas stream, which greens up natural gas.  So there is different ways where natural gas can change and evolve through technology and through changes.

So there's definitely ways we can mitigate, if you want, the reduction in natural gas, demand on the province, but it is not to say that it will go unscathed.  It definitely will, through efficiency gains of existing houses and through new building codes on new houses, will definitely put pressure on natural gas demand in Ontario.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate your answer, but that is not what I intended to ask.  So I am talking about certainty or uncertainty of forecasts as we sit here today.  I was under the impression from your evidence that the view was that right now there is tremendous uncertainty in respect of the impact on natural gas demand on your system arising from the Ontario government's climate-change policies.

I am wondering now if you are telling me that actually you are quite certain and you know what that impact is going to be.  Is that what you're telling me?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  We have no certainty in the long-term, and this is why it is a risk.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  We can agree it is trite to say cap and trade is just about to start.  We have never had it in the province before.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It starts January 1.

MR. MONDROW:  And the climate-change action plan that's been released is the first one, very formative document.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  Correct.  It only goes to the end of 2020.  So there would be further climate-change action plans to come.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, indeed.  Do you know how often those are to be released?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  My expectation is the compliance period that we have to actually comply and match allowances with actual consumption every three years.  So I would expect the climate change would be issued every three years.  The first one is four years, because the first compliance period is four years.

MR. MONDROW:  But the climate-change action plan is something different from the cap and trade regime.  You're talking about the compliance period under the cap and trade regime, but there is a climate-change action plan which is a legislated requirement now in Ontario.

Do you know how often that gets refreshed?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it would match the compliance periods as well.  So the first compliance period is four years, the first climate-change action plan is four years. Once we get through the first period it is every three years.  So I would expect climate-change action plans to happen every three years.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you think the next one will provide a bit more clarity than the first one?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it will be a continuation of the first one.

MR. MONDROW:  You didn't answer my question.  Will it provide more clarity or not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The first one provides lots of clarity, in terms of targets and dollars being spent and programs intended, so I think the next one will be similar.

MR. MONDROW:  So you don't think we will get any more clarity on impact on your forecast as we proceed through the years?  It will be as uncertain three years from now or four years from now as it is now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the targets for 2020, 2030, and 2050 are fixed, and I think how we get there will evolve as the economy evolves.

MR. MONDROW:  As that evolves will you get more certainty and greater ability to forecast?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we'll still have those -- once we get to 2020 we'll have 2030 and 2050 to look at, and those will still be fixed points, and there will be multiple -- to your point, there will be multiple climate-change action plans that will get us through those targets, but those targets I don't think will change.

MR. MONDROW:  I am asking about the targets.  I'm asking about your ability to forecast the impact on demand on your system.  Will that get clearer in the coming years or not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our ability to forecast is really good in the short-term, so --


MR. MONDROW:  In the medium- and long-term?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  When you get into the long term, it will never be -- never be great.  Lots of moving pieces.

MR. MONDROW:  The second climate change action plan, you don't anticipate will, in any measure, improve your ability to forecast demand than be you currently have?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the next climate change action plan in 2020 will help us what is happening out to 2023, 2024, but it will still have uncertainty in 2050.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn up the source for the small table that I have handed out, which I will come back to in just a moment.

Let me just get it back on my screen.  That is the reference on Exhibit K1.2 -- I think it is K1.2, is that correct?  It says Exbibit A, tab 5, page 8 of your prefiled material, and I am looking at table 5.1.

As at the time of filing at least, this table provides a forecast of design day demand on the Panhandle system through the winter of 2021-22.  Are these numbers still current?

MS. CAILLE:  They are, apart from the -- they are, apart from the one reference that Mr. Isherwood made earlier, that between years -- winters of 2017-2018 to 2018-19, it shows a forecast of 15.

We did --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, where do you see the 15?

MS. CAILLE:  From 623 to 638, which is an increment of 15.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MS. CAILLE:  And Mr. Isherwood made reference to the fact that we've seen inquiries up to 28 tJs a day for that second winter.

MR. MONDROW:  So are you revising your forecast?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not explored that 28 at all; it's just people have come to us with inquiries.  So I think we should stick with our forecast at this point in time until we know more about that 28, but it is encouraging.  But our forecast is as filed.

MR. MONDROW:  And you get inquiries all the time, I think you said, Mr. Isherwood, this morning.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  All the time.

MR. MONDROW:  That's been true for the last five years, and you expect that to be true for the next five years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The last 100 years.

MR. MONDROW:  Even better.  I don't remember that far back.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is the advantage of starting a long time ago.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Maybe we can look at Exhibit K1.2 for a minute.  I did send this to you, but only yesterday afternoon, admittedly.

But if I look at table 5.1 at the bottom line, the system demand line, starting in the winter of 2016-17, I see 565 and then, if I move across to the right in the winter of 2017/18, I see a total forecast of 623.  And the difference between those two numbers is 58.  Is my math right?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so if we look at Exhibit K1.2, I've labelled the second column "incremental Panhandle design day demand growth", and that is where I put 58.

And then if I move in your table 5.1 from winter 2017-18, which is 623 tJs, to winter 2018-19, 638 tJs, at the time you filed and as you've confirmed this morning, your forecast remains an incremental -- the difference between those two numbers is 15 tJs a day, correct?

MS. CAILLE:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And if I add 15 tJs a day to the 58 incremental demand in the winter of 2017/18, I get a total of 73 tJs between winter 2017 and the end of winter 2019?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so you see how I developed the table, and hopefully you have had a chance to look at it at least to this depth.  Any reason to quarrel with either the incremental Panhandle design day demand growth column or the third column on my table, which simply accumulates the growth starting in November 2017?

MS. CAILLE:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And the 58 tJs a day of growth between this coming winter, 2016-17, and the following winter, 2017-18, that includes, as I understand it, 48 tJs a day of current load that is interruptible, but would like to be firm?

MS. CAILLE:  We provided in BOMA -- Exhibit B, BOMA 3, the breakout of the 58 tJs a day and where we anticipate the forecast to come.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Does that include the 48 tJs a day in Leamington that is currently interruptible that would like to be firm?

MS. CAILLE:  That would include some of those customers, yes, but perhaps not all of them.  We are in the process of contracting with customers for the incremental demand for that 58 tJs a day, and we've already got 38 tJs a day of committed customers where we're starting the contracting process.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Let's break this down for a second.  We're talking about -- right now we're talking about a forecast.  Table 5.1 is a forecast, right?

MS. CAILLE:  It is a forecast, yes, which was created using the unfulfilled demand from the filing that Mr. Buonaguro referenced earlier this morning, which was customers who weren't able to receive firm capacity from the Leamington distribution expansion that occurred earlier.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And that portion of this forecast of 58 tJs a day, as I understand it, was 48 tJs a day?  So in the 58, there are 48 tJs a day of that unfulfilled demand that you were talking to Mr. Buonaguro about this morning?

MS. CAILLE:  There are 48 tJs a day in the marketplace of customers that have interruptible service.  Not all of those customers will necessarily want to convert their capacity to firm demand.

We will be -- we are doing outreach to those customers, but some may want to keep some interruptible capacity.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So when you -- when you forecast for the winter of 2017-18 an increase over the winter of 2016-17 of 58 tJs a day, did you assume 48 tJs of demand firming up, plus an incremental 10?  Or did you make some other assumption?

I thought it was the former, but I may be mistaken.

MS. CAILLE:  Let me look for the reference.  We had -- 2 tJs a day of that was regular rate growth, and 10 tJs was new customers coming on.  So not the entire capacity was interruptible to firm capacity.

MR. MONDROW:  The 46 tJs was interruptible to firm capacity?

MS. CAILLE:  Subject to check, that seems to be the right math.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  And that 46 tJs per day of interruptible capacity or unfulfilled firm demand request that you assumed in the 58, that was the Leamington area greenhouse growers?

MS. CAILLE:  Not entirely.  There are other customers in the Windsor market that are looking to have firm capacity that are currently interruptible as well.

MR. MONDROW:  Are those greenhouse growers in Windsor or not?

MS. CAILLE:  They are not.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you know what the breakdown is between the Windsor area unfulfilled demand and the Leamington unfulfilled demand that is embedded in that 46 tJs?

MS. CAILLE:  When we did the expression of interest for the Leamington build, it was meant to be for the Leamington area.  So we didn't do an expression of interest for the entire Panhandle system.

Again, if I refer to that same exhibit from BOMA, we've highlighted where we believe the 58 tJs of capacity will come, from a geographic area.  So that is BOMA 3 (d).

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, just one final question.  As I understand your evidence, including the evidence you have given this morning -- but I just want to be very clear, Mr. Isherwood, because I did listen to your answer and I want to make sure I understand it.

Without this transmission reinforcement that you are Proposing, or some alternative with similar impacts -- and I understand Union's position that there are no alternative similar impacts -- but without either the transmission reinforcement, or something equivalent from a supply perspective or a capacity perspective, you cannot do any more distribution system expansion or connection in the market area that we're talking about, is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  As of November 1st, 2017?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's evidenced by even today we have requests to go from interruptible to firm that we have denied, subject to this facility being constructed.  So it is consistent with everything we've done for 2016 and 2017.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, that's fine.  That's what I'd understood, so I appreciate that clarification.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Why don't we take a morning break now then if that is okay, Mr. Quinn?

It is ten to, so five after.  We will take a 15-minute break.  Thank you everyone.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, before the schedule came out, Madam Chair, Mr. Wolnik and I had agreed that he would advance me, and he is going to address his questions first.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  John Wolnik, representing APPrO.

I've got a few question areas.  The first area that I would like to start with is sort of the demand forecast, what we have been chatting a fair bit about so far this morning.  I will try not to duplicate some of the questions that have already been asked.  So if you bear with me as I go through my notes here.

Maybe just to get ready for this, I wonder if I could ask Mr. Gagner to pull up APPrO interrogatory -- APPrO dot 2, and there is a table in there.  If we could -- yes, that's the -- thanks.

So on your screen here is the table that I think was derived from Table 5-1 in the evidence.  Is that correct?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  And I know Mr. Mondrow had his table.  So I would like to maybe just use this just for a minute to categorize and talk about some of the load and the load growth.

In the first -- or I guess it is the second column that is labelled "the winter '16/'17", and underneath that is the Leamington expansion project.  Am I right in that that's the volume that was enabled -- or the new load that was enabled as a result of the Leamington expansion project, which is a distribution project?

MS. CAILLE:  That's the incremental capacity, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So the total incremental capacity enabled then was the 37 tJs then?

MS. CAILLE:  I believe that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And in the second row there, the conversion from interruptible to firm, 25 -- presumably 25 of tJs a day was existing capacity or existing customers that you had on interruptible service.  This project would allow them to go to firm service then; is that right?

MS. CAILLE:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Can you tell me how much of that 25 is now signed up under sort of ten-year contracts?

THE DEPONENT:  Actually, the request is five-year contracts, but we can answer the question.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I'll come back to that in a second.

So can you tell me how much is signed up under long-term -- well, under contracts then?  Firm contract, I guess, would be the best way to characterize it.

MS. CAILLE:  So this is for this winter of '17 of the Leamington Phase 2 capacity build that you are bringing?  Not the --


MR. WOLNIK:  Correct.  And I guess I should first ask, is this project now in service?

MS. CAILLE:  So the Leamington project for Phase 2 has gone into service, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, my comment of five years was dealing with '17.  So I misspoke.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.

MS. CAILLE:  So those customers are under contract, and that pipe did go in service on October 28th of this year.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So all 25 has been signed up under firm contract, then?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  Customers have made commitments for various lengths of term.  The average is six years, but some are shorter and some are longer than that.

MR. WOLNIK:  We will come back to that in a second.

The new contract load, the nine that you had illustrated here, is that signed up under firm contract?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  Those customers would be contracted as well.  The contracts underpinned that build.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So maybe we can talk about the term for a second.  It was my impression that when you added facilities, that ten years was generally the minimum term.  Am I mistaken?

MS. CAILLE:  That is generally, but in the Leamington proceeding, as part of the dialogue that happened, there were a couple of customers that requested a longer length of term, and that was accommodated through the resolution of the Leamington Phase 2 construction.

MR. WOLNIK:  But the average is six, I think you said.

MS. CAILLE:  The average is six, because some took less term and some longer.  It depended on the amount of volume that the customer was taking and the individual facilities that somebody might have required as well from a distribution, and if it was a new customer they would need a service in a station, and those costs would be included as well.  So customers were able to make a determination based on their individual circumstances.

MR. WOLNIK:  So how did you determine what the right term was for any of these customers?  Was it based on the individual facilities?

MS. CAILLE:  The customers received, depending on the load that they were taking, a portion of the distribution project itself.  And then incrementally, if they were a new customer, you would have to add their individual costs in order to calculate the cost of the facilities for a customer.  And then the volume commitment that the customer would like to make from a minimum annual volume and setting up their firm commitment on a volume basis determines the term.

So if the customer, for example, increases the volume commitment on an annual basis, it would decrease the length of term.  If they have a lower volume, the term lengthens, and it really -- in those cases the customer makes a choice based on their business and what they believe they will consume to set the term.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  That's helpful then.

And in terms of the general-service rate class, I take it from the presentation this morning since you have no additional capacity, you've had general service growth in the area as well?  I won't ask the specific number, but it sounds like that has occurred as well.

MS. CAILLE:  We have.  We have provided a table in evidence -- and sorry, I don't have the reference right in front of me at the moment -- that shows the residential service attachments.  And I confirmed with our Windsor-Chatham office that serves the Panhandle area that they are ahead of forecast for the 2016 year and expect to exceed their forecast for 2016 by an additional 400 general service customers.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.

If we can move to the next column that is sort of winter '17/'18 with the Panhandle reinforcement.  I know we have talked a little bit about this already today, so I will try not to duplicate it.  But in terms of the 46 in the second row, in terms of conversion from interruptible to firm, I take it that -- I take it these are some of the customers that may have been prorated in the past or just were already on interruptible service for -- to meet their own needs.

MS. CAILLE:  Correct.  It is a combination of both.  So some of that capacity is unfulfilled demand from the Leamington customers that received a proration.  Some of them are outside of the Leamington service area, so they could be in Windsor or Chatham-Kent, that are also on interruptible service and looking to firm up their service.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I think you mentioned earlier, just before the break, that some of them may choose not to firm up, that they will just stay on interruptible because that meets their needs.

MS. CAILLE:  There are some that may choose to do that.  We have been out in the marketplace already speaking to customers that are on contract rate, and we have 37 tJs a day throughout the whole system that have confirmed that they still want to convert from interruptible to firm capacity, which represents a large portion of the capacity that we need for year 1.

There's another 13 tJs a day where we are still in discussions with the customers, having negotiations.  They have indicated that they do want to firm up their portfolio.  They're just making a determination if it is all of their capacity that they want to firm up, or if they want to do something less than the full amount.

And we've only had 2 tJs a day of customers who have now said, since this began, they have decided that they no longer want firm capacity.

MR. WOLNIK:  Just so that I am clear, is the 37 that still have expressed interest, is that 37 of the 46?  Or 37 of the 58?  Or...

MS. CAILLE:  That's 37 of the 58.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And when you say "interested", does that mean they haven't signed contracts yet?

MS. CAILLE:  We have sub-contracts out in the field waiting to be returned.  These people have all given us verbal commitments, so we are in the process of completing the legal documentation, but they haven't all been returned yet.

MR. WOLNIK:  So of the 58 -- maybe 56 is a better number -- of the contract customers here, the 46 and the 10, so of those 56, how many have signed, actually signed, contracts?  How much capacity do you have under long-term contract?

MS. CAILLE:  We don't have any contracts returned yet, but we do have some out in the field waiting for the customers to return.  They have given us verbal commitments that they're going to do so.  We're just waiting for the paper to be executed.

MR. WOLNIK:  So why wouldn't they have signed up by now?  I mean, you filed this in -- I mean, I think you've talked about an urgent and immediate need.  You filed this in June, I think, if I have got the date right, that presumably was before.

Why wouldn't they have already signed up in support of this application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We didn't actually go to market, Mr. Wolnik, until mid-September, maybe the third week of September.  So it has just been in the late five or six weeks, maybe eight weeks.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you really filed this application on the basis of a forecast, as opposed to a real executed demand.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Based on forecast.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Well, how common is that?  I mean, I think -- how common is it for you to file such a substantive project without any contracts?

MS. CAILLE:  Typically with in-franchise transmission growth, when we are building for the system for a multi-year, this is common to not have had the contracts in place ahead of time.

We do -- we did check with the marketplace and have the unfulfilled demand from Leamington phase 2, which was underpinning what we put in the filing.

And we're now securing that demand with this proceeding.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it's fair to say, then, since you have no contracts -- and I appreciate you're out there trying to get them -- that the 58 is still a soft number?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would disagree with that statement.  As I said earlier on before the break, we have high confidence in the short-term forecast out five years.

And to back up, to the extent we do lose a bit of the volume in 2016-17 -- and Ms. Caille had mentioned we have a couple of customers that have not wanted to go forward -- we have exceeded our forecast in terms of what's in the hopper.  What's tentatively scheduled for 2018, we can quite easily move some of that into 2017 to fill it up.

If we had a handshake with a customer, an agreement with the customer in terms of that converting into a signed deal, it's almost 100 percent.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think you said 37 was the committed volume to date that is sort of verbally committed to?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes, 37, and there is another 13 tJs a day that we have strong confidence that a large portion of that will proceed.  The customers are just determining if they want the entire amount of their interruptible capacity committed to firm, or if they want something with some small reduction in that amount.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in terms of the future years -- I know, Mr. Isherwood, you talked about the winter of 2018/19 -- you've got more expressions of interest from the 2015 might be a total of as high as 28, I think you've indicated.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you tell me if you've -- can you tell me what level of commitment, I will make it generic, what level of commitment have you got from customers for the period beyond the first year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  At this point, it would just be an expression of interest.  It would be them coming to us asking if we have capacity.  Our next step, once we determine the outcome of this proceeding, would be to actually do an expression of interest.

So that 28 tJs a day of interest is without us asking the market for what interest they may have, and that would be a step we would do for sure before we proceed with any 2018 growth.  So 28 I consider to be conservative starting point, and we would need to do an expression of interest to confirm and potentially expand that.

MR. WOLNIK:  But at that point, the pipe is in the ground, though, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I'm thinking of 2018, if we build   the Panhandle, that's right.

MR. WOLNIK:  So in terms of sort of this growth for the 40 -- well, I guess the 58 and future years, will there be any distribution expansions required?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends where those customers are located.  So this is more work we need to do in terms of '18, '19 and '20.  But as we get expresses of interest, we would need to look at where they are in the geography of southwestern Ontario, and it may lead to more distribution, or it may not.

Likely, it will.  Typically, it does result in some.

MR. WOLNIK:  Let's come back to that for a second.  What about in the first year, in 2017/18?  Will there be additional projects required to service this load?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You need to understand there is a couple of small reinforcements within the Leamington area.  It is just going to be handled through normal distribution growth.  It's very small; just two-inch, four-inch, ten- inch; it is very small.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it may or may not result in a leave to construct application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, not result -- it's not big enough.

MR. WOLNIK:  But it will go through the normal economic process?  There could be a contribution in aid required?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't think so, no.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And what minimum term have you got for these contracts for 2017-18, the ones that you are signing up now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The proposal that we have asked customers to sign is a five-year contract.

MR. WOLNIK:  So in light of the concern that you've got, in terms of sort of a long term demand, why wouldn't you go at least ten years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we're trying to find a balance here, to be quite honest.

I think when you look at the 2016 expansion, Ms. Caille had mentioned that the average term was six years.  And a lot of the customers that will be contracting in 2017, as you know, are people that were unfulfilled from the 2016 expansion.

So looking at the average customer that has a six-year contract in 2016, they will have five years remaining in 2017.  So that is one of the reasons we picked five years.  It still shows a commitment to other growers in Leamington.  It shows commitment to other M4, M5, T1, T2 customers.  So there is three or four reasons why we kind of landed on five years.

Generally speaking, greenhouses, I would even say industrials, are reluctant to sign any term contracts.  So I think five years is a positive step forward.

As you know, when we expand Dawn to Parkway, we're dealing with large utilities with good credit and deep pockets and we typically ask for 10 or 15 years; that is more common in the large projects.  But this is the first time actually we have actually gone not looking for the contract to support economically the costs of the project, but to support the project from a commitment to use the capacity for a minimum of five years.

MR. WOLNIK:  Last time I checked, I thought the expansion cost of this was pretty similar to some of your Dawn to Parkway expansions, the 250 million range.  So to me, that is a pretty big project.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Big project.  Dawn to Parkway is typically more than that.  But it's a big project; no doubt about it.

MR. WOLNIK:  You didn't think it was appropriate to have a longer term then, I take it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We thought five years was pushing it, and we have been very happy with the response we got in the market.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you, that is helpful.  I would like to just kind of change topics here for a second.  I would like to talk about demand-side management for a little bit and the effects of that.

I noticed in your evidence at Exhibit A, tab 5, page 14, you talked about some of the recent effects of DSM.  And I think what the evidence suggests is that the annual reduction in throughput, as a result of the initiatives that you have had in the past, have been something in the order of about 900 tJs a year.

Would you agree with -- still agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, at the bottom of page 14, that's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And some of that occurs on peak day, I take it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Our experience has been although we have DSM success in all parts of our market, we have found that expansions and growth in each market still grows the annual volume and still grows a peak volume.  So it is unclear to us, in terms of the impact on a day or annual volumes.  But annual volumes is easy; on the peak day, it is a little tougher.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think you're kind of mixing things up.  What I would like to do is just talk about not the growth, but just the existing customers.



When you -- whether it is DSM measures that you implement on your own, or whether customers implement on their own, there is a reduction in throughput which -- and there is a reduction in peak day demand, is there not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say from the point of view of DSM, we would definitely agree that it changes annual volume.  In terms of peak day volume, it's a harder number to get to in terms of the impact on peak day.

You would think a customer putting in a more efficient furnace where they would use less gas than they did the day before they put the new furnace in.  So directionally, I would agree.

As part of the DSM decision we got in January, we have been asked to do a study with Enbridge on sort of an integrated resource plan concept.  So we're looking at doing a deep dive on DSM on the impact on markets, and that study is actually underway with Enbridge and with ICF being the consultant.

MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate that, and I did want to come back to that a little bit later.

But going back to the furnace option then, where a new high-efficiency furnace is put in -- and I can look at my own case, where I've replaced my old '65 percent efficient furnace with an 95 percent efficient furnace.

My peak day requirement dropped by two-thirds roughly after it went in, because I can still create the same heat output with a smaller unit.  And I assume that would be the same for commercial/industrial situations as well?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Typically, it would be true across all segments.

MR. WOLNIK:  And this 920 tJs a day of annual reduction, you would think that would be positively correlate, or at least with -- to a large degree with heating degree days?  In other words, a greater portion would be on colder days than warmer days.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent it is in the core market, the residential market, that would be true.  If it is the industrial market, it may be smoother than that.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I understand your DSM budgets have doubled in the recent past --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  -- going forward.  And I think you indicated you're looking to spend ten million dollars a year in this area, roughly speaking, to continue to offer DSM programs?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There was an interrogatory that addressed that, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you would expect, if you were going to roughly double your investment in DSM, that you would expect to see greater gains in the reduction of gas?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Greater reductions.  It may not be double, though.  We are finding that the program is getting tougher and tougher.

MR. WOLNIK:  Great.  No, I appreciate that.  And I think we had also asked you a question in APPrO 1 about some of the incentives that were going to come about as a result of the cap and trade incentives.

And I think your evidence indicated that there's going to be something in the order of $4 billion in new grants, rebates, and other subsidies directed towards energy retrofits and efficiency measures.

We had asked from a ballpark perspective how much of those funds could be directed towards this geographic region.  I appreciate that is a difficult exercise to do, but you did offer that if they were to be allocated on the basis of population it would amount to about $160 million over and above the amount of money that Union was going to spend over the next few years on energy efficiency measures.

So it seems to me that there is a fairly significant potential for demand reduction from these incentives and rebates that has not been taken into account here.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think in terms of the climate-change action plan those were numbers that were in the plan as they got issued on June the 10th of this year.

We have not actually seen the programs and see how the programs are designed or focused.  But in terms of -- and as you said, we did qualify the answer in terms of the population-based, that type of thing.  But it is uncertain at this point in time in terms of how the money will be spent, if it will be spent in the way we have been talking about here.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And I wasn't trying to be critical.  I appreciate that it is a brand-new program.  The point is, as you note in your evidence, I mean, there are -- there is the potential for additional incentives here.  And if they're applied, one would expect some results.  That's all.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If they come forward, there should -- and they are spent in the way we anticipate here, then there should be results for sure.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Thank you.

MS. CAILLE:  There could also be increased demand for natural gas from programs that come out of the government as well.  So whether it is transportation for natural gas in transport trucks or combined heat and power, so there are applications that will reduce natural gas demand, but there are other things that may result out of the climate action change plan (sic) that could actually increase the need for natural gas.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other thing I will mention, Mr. Wolnik, is -- and this is coming out a little bit in the Ontario government's long-term energy plan review that is currently underway.  They do that every three years.  LTEP is short-form.  And there is clearly a focus within the climate-change action plan to electrify the province, so actually encourage homes to go off of natural gas, propane, and other fossil fuels and go towards an all-electric option.

And part of Union's submission in LTEP -- and we will be detailing this more in our LTEP submission, but if you electrify the province you actually drive a significant cost increase in terms of how much production capability you need, how many more nuclear plants you need, that type of thing, just at a high level.

The electric system provides a peak of -- you probably know this number better than I do -- but 22- to 25,000 megawatts, kind of peak.  Natural gas on a peak winter day provides the equivalent of 84,000 megawatts.

So simply said, if you want to electrify the province, you're going to have to spend a lot of money to take the system from 25,000 megawatts to 84,000, plus 25,000, which is over 100,000 megawatts.

So Union Gas's proposal and one of our suggestions would be that we use climate-change action plan dollars that may electrify the home and provide the home with electric heat in the off-season, in the shoulder months, maybe a warm winter day, but on a cold, cold winter day when you need that 84,000 megawatts, avoid using electricity.  You use natural gas.  The system is still in -- all of our natural-gas facilities are in place.  We call it a hybrid solution.  It is using to the maximum possible extent existing electric infrastructure, existing gas infrastructure, and not having to spend a lot of money on new generation, new transmission, new production.

So we call it the hybrid solution, but that could be an example where you are spending $160 million to electrify homes but don't change your peak gas days.

Those are the kind of things that are going to be new ideas, new innovative ideas like that, will be coming forward from not only Union Gas, but from other parties as well, so I won't expect $160 million to be spent on new windows and new furnaces only.  It's going to be strongly focused on electrifying the province, and we have a solution to avoid the peak issue.

MR. WOLNIK:  I like your statement about trying to do more with less, or at least the existing infrastructure.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Just going back to the DSM study that you and Enbridge are undertaking at this point in time.  Is this the first time you have ever looked at the peak day impacts as a result of DSM measures?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is a fairly hard number to get to.  So I think we're looking forward to ICF and the work that they are going to do on behalf of Enbridge and Union to come up with that.

MR. WOLNIK:  No, I understand that.  But I guess my question was, I mean, Union understands its business, the flow in its system and its network.  We as intervenors, we don't understand it particularly well.  It is very difficult.  You don't release your model, and even if you did, I don't think there is anything we could do with it.

The question is, have you ever looked at the peak day impact of applying DSM or other energy efficiency measures?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the answer to that, to be honest.  The DSM folks may have done some work on it.  I have not done work on it, but I can't answer in terms of -- have we ever?  I don't know.

MR. WOLNIK:  I mean, that would be helpful, because what you've got here is a forecast for not taking into account the effects of DSM or some of these other potential incentives.  And -- but you have put in a fairly large number here, where there could be as much as a pJ of annual reduction.  Much of that could be on peak days.  So I guess I am trying to get a handle on that.

Is that something you are prepared to go back and investigate and advise, and if there are previous studies, to share those with us?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am caught by your word "ever", so I think when we prepared the evidence we were comfortable with the numbers that we inputted here, knowing that we have a study underway with ICF and Enbridge that will provide more detail, but --


MR. WOLNIK:  And when are you going to file that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be filed as part of the midterm review.

MR. WOLNIK:  And that would be when?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it would be filed sometime next fall.

MR. WOLNIK:  So well after this is either approved or not.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be next fall.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, if we can --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We just got started.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you go back five years and determine if there's been any relationship between annual reduction and peak day reduction as a result of DSM measures?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's hard to see the reduction when your system continues to -- and that's my earlier point.  If growth is outpacing DSM -- this isn't a static.  All we did was DSM -- then you would be able to see quite clearly what the impact of DSM is annually and on peak day.  But DSM is happening in the background, and the system will continue to grow above and beyond that.  So we're seeing the type of forecasts that we just looked at a few minutes ago.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you've got a fairly precise number for the annual impact here.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Basically every time we do a DSM project we have estimated the natural gas reductions, so we actually have calculated on an annual basis, and over the term of the new equipment we have calculated to a lot of degree of certainty what the savings have been.

MR. WOLNIK:  So as part of that analysis you don't look at the peak day impact.  So if there was a new furnace, new piece of industrial equipment installed with higher efficiency, you don't look at -- you don't take into account how that could change the peak day demand?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe we're looking at annual numbers and annual savings.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, I guess, will you go back and look at -- look to see whether you have any studies over the last five years of the relationship between DSM programs and impact on peak day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can look at that.  I think the answer is no, but let's take it away.

MR. WOLNIK:  The answer is, no, that you haven't, or, no, that you won't do it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, sorry, I think the answer is we haven't done it.  We will confirm that.

MR. WOLNIK:  And if you had any, will you file them?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We will just look at it.

MS. DUFF:  Excuse me just for a second.  You are the VP of sales.  I mean, where else would that information be brought in and taken into consideration in your sales forecast if you don't know about it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am the VP of sales for five months.  So I am still learning.


[Laughter]

MS. DUFF:  Point taken.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Ask me a question on Dawn.  I can answer any question on Dawn you want, but...

MR. MILLAR:  So I think I heard an undertaking, which is to look for the studies that Mr. Wolnik is asking about and to provide an update.  I am not sure you confirmed you would actually file them or not, but you would --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think there are any, but we need to look at it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you will report back with respect to the studies.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  That is what we will do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO LOOK FOR THE STUDIES THAT MR. WOLNIK IS ASKING ABOUT AND TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE.

MS. DUFF:  To be fair, I mean, it is still within his current department and that work.  I don't want him -- you know, this evidence isn't related to work being done elsewhere in Union.  It would culminate and eventually end up under your area of responsibility.

MR. KEIZER:  Within his control.  Is that what you're suggesting?

MS. DUFF:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  We have the right witness?  Thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.

I also wanted to talk a little bit about sort of the revenue requirement, just in terms of the -- in relationship to the forecast.

And I think the total revenue requirement is about $27 million.  Is that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  In 2018, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And the incremental revenue from the new customers is about $1.6 million?  Is that about right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  In 2018, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  So the difference, which is by my math $25.6 million, you are asking existing customers to pay that $25.6 million.  Is that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  Through the capital pass-through mechanism.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  And in my mind there is still some uncertainty here in terms of the demand forecast.  I appreciate perhaps -- and Mr. Isherwood, they're not in your mind, and I am glad to hear that, but certainly you have got no contracts at this point, although you do have some verbal commitments.  And we've got a five-year forecast here.

So I guess my question is, given at least in my mind the uncertainty in demand, is Union prepared to take any forecast risk related to the customer portion of this revenue requirement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The application is based on our best forecast, and I think the forecast for the five-year period is very robust.  I think the verbal commitments are a strong indication of that.

Ms. Caille mentioned our bill connections have exceeded our forecasts for the first year.  We're getting extra requests above our forecast for 2018.  OGVG has submitted a letter of support that shows their five-year forecast higher than our forecast.

We have letters from, I think, most mayors, if not all mayors in southwestern Ontario.  I think the forecast is solid.

MR. WOLNIK:  So does that mean you are confident enough that you are prepared to take revenue risk here?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have done our best to provide the Forecast, and if there is a forecast -- if there's a variance to forecast, whether it is higher or slightly lower, it is what it is and it gets rebased at the time it gets rebased.

MR. WOLNIK:  I take it --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We always take a volume forecast during the IRM period, but it gets rebased at the end of the peer.

MR. WOLNIK:  But in this case, because you're asking for capital pass-through treatment, you're not taking any risk on this the way it sits today.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  I guess my question is, are you prepared to take any risk on any revenue shortfall?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is not the framework we operate within, so I would say no.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  I've got a question just in terms of the contracts and some of the alternatives.  But I think this part of the question is perhaps best with this panel.

If an interruptible customer wants to -- would prefer not to be interrupted and is able to purchase gas at Ojibway -- I appreciate I heard the presentation this morning about the concerns with that.  But if an interruptible customer in the Leamington or Windsor area is able to purchase gas in the -- sorry, at the Ojibway delivery point, could he avoid being interrupted by bringing in additional gas on that day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have talked to customers for that option loosely.  I don't think greenhouses would be too interested in that.  But there's some other customers in the Windsor area that maybe have that capability to buy gas on a short-term basis.  That is something we would consider.

MR. WOLNIK:  So there is nothing contractually that prevents that.  In fact, it sounds like you would enable that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would have to enable it in advance.  We couldn't do it the day of, obviously.  But we would definitely consider that.

MR. WOLNIK:  So for some of those interruptible customers in the Leamington and Windsor area, is it -- it is an option, as I hear you saying, for them to bring additional gas in, in lieu of being interrupted?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would definitely -- if they had the Request, we would definitely look at it.  The challenge is Ojibway is not a liquid spot, so they can't really buy gas at Ojibway.  They would have to be buying gas upstream of Ojibway and that is hard to do on a day, on a peak winter day.

MR. WOLNIK:  Well --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not very practical, I guess is what I'm saying.

MR. WOLNIK:  The condition, I guess, was if they were able to get gas.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We will consider it.

MR. WOLNIK:  Then you will consider it.  But from a facilities planning perspective, if it will work, will you take it or not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Until the capacity is sold out -- I think panel 2 can talk to how much capacity we can actually bring across on a peak winter day.  I believe the number is 115, if I remember correctly.  But once we get to 115, we're kind of tapped out.

MR. WOLNIK:  115 is a summer number, I'm assuming, and 140 is a winter number.  And I assume the 140 is a minimum number.

So presumably, during the peak times -- which is the times that I would expect that you would most likely interrupt -- the market is much greater than 140, is it not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is S and T transactional deals done on the day or on the week, depending on local peak point, depending on local market.  So the 140 is what we sell on an annual basis, or a long term basis.  On a cold day, the market is bigger so we can actually bring in more gas.

MR. WOLNIK:  You could take more gas in, and some of that gas could be relayed to these interruptible customers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CAILLE:  Just to clarify a bit further, you had mentioned panel 2 might be able to provide some additional context, so I will defer to them as well, if they have something they want to add.

But the Leamington market is a sufficient distance from the Ojibway transfer point, so it is not a one-to-one ratio in bringing volumes out to the Leamington market.

So that's a consideration as well in looking at whether or not you can bring a commodity in for the greenhouse growers at that distance.

The second thing is, when you mentioned about is it an option for customers.  In the historical years where we had interruptions, you had asked are customers able to avoid an interruption.

We had existing customers on interruptible agreements that we notified of interruption, and they contacted us to ask are they able to bring in, on an exception basis, delivery at Ojibway.

And we have to evaluate it through our gas control system at the time, whether it is possible or not.  But it has occurred on occasion for customers to be able to avoid interruption that they've brought gas through Ojibway.

MR. WOLNIK:  How would gas control evaluate?  I mean, either there is capacity or there's not.  I mean, either they are high enough up in the priority list they would being accept the nomination or not, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is a check in terms of how big is the market and how much capacity is coming across the border.  It is just making sure there is room on that day for a bit more gas; that is all we're trying to do.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But to Ms. Caille's point, it is easier to do that in Windsor.  The further you get away from Windsor, the more difficult that becomes.

Mr. Wallace can speak to that tomorrow if there is some plumbing issues between Windsor and Leamington.

MR. WOLNIK:  I appreciate that.  I am not sure whether this is a question for you, or perhaps again the next panel, but Union's incurring some development costs.

It sounds like you have no contracts.  So presumably, there is no financial guarantees by the customers, so Union is incurring some development costs.

If this doesn't get approved by the Board, who incurs those costs at the end of the day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am certain that would we would apply to the Board for recovery of those costs, because we're acting in the best interests of our customers to try to develop the project.

MR. WOLNIK:  And you would do that in the context of the IRM?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would leave that to our regulatory group to determine how best to do it.  But the whole southern Ontario is out of gas, out of capacity.  So it is a reasonable thing to ask for a project to relieve that capacity constraint.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  I just have one follow-up question regarding that interruptible customer in which they're notified that they are going to be interrupted.

If they were to arrange alternative supply arrangements, those alternative supply arrangements, they don't supplement the interruptible, do they?  Are they then taking service from Union under a different category?  How does that work?

MS. CAILLE:  So I am going to defer that to panel 2, because I think that that is more under our gas supply. Chris Shorts and Dan Wallace might be able to answer that better than I could.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But if they brought in supply, then they would not be interrupted in that day.  So if they were going to be interrupted for ten units, for example, and they brought in ten units, then they would be able to burn those ten units if our system could supply it, or deliver it.

MS. DUFF:  Just the way you explained it, okay, thank you.  Mr. Quinn?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Chair Duff.  Good morning, members of the Union Gas panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn here on behalf of FRPO.

Mr. Isherwood, I think I will start with you as the most senior member of the panel.

Would you agree with me that it is clear that our energy environment is evolving, and very different from the one that you and I started our careers in?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's been a lot of water under the bridge in the thirty-two, thirty-four years.

MR. QUINN:  So I will take that as a yes.  So in this evolution in the environment, it leads us to consider alternative approaches; as an example, your proposed recovery of costs over a 20 year period versus the historic 40 or 50 years.  Would you agree with me?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay, sure.

MR. QUINN:  Would you also agree it is important for this Board to consider these applications with the backdrop of the current energy environment, as opposed to relying on past precedents?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we need to look forward, that's correct.  But we always have an eye to the past, obviously.  We build our business practices based on precedent and best practice.  You can't ignore it, but you are looking forward for sure.

MR. QUINN:  So in our view, this extends to being creative in alternatives, considering the economy and flexibility of those alternatives to meet the need and to recover the cost.

Would you concur with that perspective?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. QUINN:  This extends to being creative in the alternatives, considering economy and flexibility in those alternatives for meeting the need and recovering the cost?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  I don't accept that the 20-year depreciation is being creative; I think it is being responsive.

MR. QUINN:  Well, would you agree with me then that in this application, Union has been traditional in meeting the need with a pipeline, but innovative in recovering the costs of depreciation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think it is innovative.  I think it is responsive.

MR. QUINN:  I guess we will differ in that regard.
So is Union aware of any other precedents where Ontario natural gas utilities have had a change in their cost-allocation methodology during an incentive regulation period?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I am not aware of -- I know Union has not proposed a different cost allocation in any of its capital pass-through projects.  But the IRM settlement agreement did allow and contemplate that that may be possible.

MR. QUINN:  Could you point to me in the agreement where it speaks to the contemplation of alternate allocation methodologies?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sure.  If you refer to Board Staff 6 interrogatory.  One of the eight criteria for a project to qualify for capital pass-through treatment, one of the criteria states that:

"Subject to direction otherwise from the Board, Union would allocate the net revenue requirement using 2013 Board-approved cost-allocation methodologies."

Any party, including Union, may take any position with respect to the proposed allocation for any particular capital project during the review of the project by the Board.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

So I am just going to shift gears a bit and follow up on one of Mr. Wolnik's questions.

There was some focus on Mr. Isherwood in your new role, but you are also familiar with business development from your storage and transportation role that you had previously?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am.

MR. QUINN:  So there was a discussion of the sales impact and the annualized impact.  But where the rubber really hits the road is the impact on the peak day for the purposes of ensuring that gas gets to customers on those peak days, and that would be facilities planning?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's a peak day allocation; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  So has Union, in its facilities planning role, has Union created other forecasts of peak days showing impact of DSM like a base case, a high case, and a low case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, the manager of facility planning is on the stand in panel 2.  Mr. Wallace can address that question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then we will defer that question to Mr. Wallace.

Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I can get started here, and you said you had a full stop at 12:00, eh?

MS. DUFF:  12:30.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, 12:30.  Well, I might get more than started then.

I have a compendium here which I will give to Mr. Millar.

--- Mr. Brett passes compendium to parties.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we will mark this as K1.3.  It is Mr. Brett's -- the BOMA compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOMA Cross-Examination compendium for Union Panel 1


MR. BRETT:  How many copies -- did you give them -- yes, I think the Union folks need them.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  If you turn up, to start -- good morning, panel.  Could you turn up 3(d), page 3(d).  The page number is in the top right corner of the compendium, and just put in with ink.

And this is a -- this is part of a -- 3(d) is part of a Board Staff interrogatory.  So I am looking at page 4 of the compendium, page 3(d), and the second paragraph from the bottom.  Do you have that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have it in front of us, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, Mr. -- I guess I want to start with getting you to look at the last -- the last sentence in that paragraph.  You say:

"However, it is possible that it will occur within the typical 40- to 50-year depreciation period and, as such, Union has proposed the 20-year depreciation term as a means of addressing the risk."

And the risk you discuss is the uncertainty associated with, I take it, potential diminution of demand over the long-term based on efforts by the provincial government's GHD policy; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  We reviewed the longer-term forecast to be the one that has the most risk to it.  We define "longer-term" as being more than 15 or 20 years.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  You say in that last sentence:

"It is possible that it will occur within the typical 40-year to 50-year period."

So I take it that you're note necessarily saying that it is likely or that it is bound to happen.  You are saying it is a possibility.  Is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess I go back to the government's objectives or goals on greenhouse gas reduction, and again, by 2030, a 37 percent reduction and by 2050 an 80 percent reduction, and I guess also confirmed by the federal government in the last week or two.  They have the same target out by 2050.  So 20 years takes us to 2037.  If you install the pipe in 2017, 20 years would take us out to 2037, which is kind of between the 2030 target and the 2050 target.

If I were to interpolate between those points, you know, between a 37 percent reduction and an 80 percent reduction, by 2037 the math is about 50 percent.  So if you draw a straight line between those two points you would expect by 2037, 20 years out, you would be about a half reduction in greenhouse gas at that point in time.

It is significant.  It is a significant risk for the natural gas industry, and it is probably -- the whole Climate Change Action directive is relatively new.  It came out in 2015 for all of us, 2016 in a lot more detail, and the targets have not changed.  They're very, I'm going to say aggressive.

MR. BRETT:  You said a moment ago that, in  answering --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could just finish there, though?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry.  I apologize.  You said a moment ago in answering --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I just want to finish my statement, because I think it is important, that it is not just a risk for Union Gas, it is a risk for the industry, and it is important that all stakeholders, including Union Gas, have the discussion and have the thought process around what is the impact of climate change in Ontario to the natural gas industry.


It is a conversation we all need to have, and we need to get guidance from the Board as well, obviously.  But it is brand-new to all of us.

So do I have clarity out 20 years?  I don't.  But I do know that based on the Climate Change Action Plan the government's intent to change building codes starting in 2020 and 2030 for sure, that 20 years is about right.  That's when we think we will start to see some significant impacts.

MR. BRETT:  Do you agree that you will have a better idea of what the impacts will be when the specific programs are developed?  I think you told Mr. Wolnik that while the general policy has been published, the individual programs that the government is going to have for incenting people to go off gas in their houses, programs that might diminish demand or increase demand, I think you told him you will know more when the individual programs are set out.  Is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  The government has announced program areas.  They're not yet designed or not come out with a design of the exact programs.  So that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And I know you talked at length with Mr. Mondrow about this, but do you not agree that by the time the rebasing comes along more of these programs will be set out?  There will be more concreteness in what the government proposes to do, whether it is in the -- on the building sector, building codes, retrofit incentives, or electrification that you've talked about, incentives for renewable natural gas.

There will be more of that -- those programs articulated by the time the rebasing comes up.  Fair enough?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say that as the programs get designed and get brought out to the market, they're really focused on the period from 2017 through 2020.

So when the whole Climate Change Action Plan that we have in front of us today is only good until 2020, we have no insight at all in terms of the climate change action plans beyond that.  So as I said earlier on, I think our forecast in the short-term, the first five years of our forecast, I have high certainty in terms of that forecast, and that aligns with really the same time frame, roughly, of the first Climate Change Action Plan.

The risk to our volumes and our throughput is not in the first five years; we have certainty on that.


The risk is really around what happens in 20 years, and we won't have no more certainty on that when these programs are unveiled.


MR. BRETT:  Can you tell me, have you got -- Mr. Quinn asked you a more general version of this question.  I want to put a little more of an edge on it.

Can you tell me whether you are aware of any jurisdiction in Canada, or the US, for that matter, where the regulator has effectively -- where the regulator has changed the depreciation schedule for a capital project, a specific capital project, based on the imminence of a greenhouse gas program?

Now, just to sort of focus it a little bit more, in your evidence in reply to the Board Staff's interrogatory, you did mention that the OEB, in its recent policy paper on incentives for transmission projects, for large capital projects, rather, had said that there would be some flexibility in depreciation periods.


And you also mentioned that the NEB, in its '03 decision, had allowed the northern line, transmission line something like a five-year depreciation.


Now we can come back it that.  But what I want to focus on is those were -- I want to ask specifically about, has a regulator, to your knowledge, given a different depreciation schedule for a capital project on the grounds that a GHG program that has been pronounced, that has been advocated by government, is going to have some -- is going to create additional uncertainty over the longer term.


Are you aware?  Is there anything like that?  Are you aware of a decision of that sort?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think greenhouse gas reductions and climate change is probably a new topic for most regulators in North America, at least.  So my short answer is no.


But if I could explain, the reference that you referred to is BOMA 18, Exhibit B, which is the IR.  So there have been examples where both the OEB and the NEB have allowed depreciation rates to be shortened.  And where the commonality is, between climate change and where it's been allowed, is when there is market uncertainty in terms of long term use of that pipeline.


And in the case of the TransCanada pipeline, there's been a major shift in flow from Alberta to Ontario that has been in decline for a number of years, and it's being replaced by Marcellus gas coming in through Dawn.


So the end result of the TCL pipeline has seen significant reduction in throughput.


There are three parts to the system.  The part that has been depreciated quickly is called the northern Ontario line.  It basically covers northern Ontario as far as basically North Bay essentially.


So for the majority of TCPL's throughput through Ontario.  That line, instead having a 30- or 40-year depreciation rate, was truncated in 2020 and has been on fast track depreciation since about 20 -- I would say 2013 or '14, probably -- '13 I think.


So that is the example where NEB has gone to a very fast rapid depreciation.  And the example where the OEB has gone to a shorter depreciation was the service that we offered to TCPL; we called it Dawn to Dawn TCPL.  It's basically service within the Dawn yard.


We thought it was a five-year service.  We thought the market was there for five years, so we had to spend a bit of capital to put that into service, and the Board agreed we could recover the costs and the capital in five years, i.e. depreciate in five years.


The similarity between all of that is greenhouse gas reduction puts risk on natural gas throughput in the same way as a changing natural gas supply has put risk on TCPL's throughput.

So it is a similar result, but for different reasons.

MR. BRETT:  There are similarities.  But would you not agree with me in the case of the NEB's decision, TransCanada had lost 70 persons of its throughput on that line, and that was really a crisis situation.  They felt they had to do that, and it was done as part of an overall deal.


That's a little different than what we're looking at now, would you not agree?  I mean, not only is it not GHG; I think we've agreed on that.  But looking to the question of what kind of parallel it is, or what kind of precedent it is, that was a crisis, a real crisis that had to be addressed.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure it was a crisis.  But it was a long term trend, and the point came where they wanted to deal with it and have a faster depreciation.


What we're saying in our evidence is we also see a risk in 20 years out, and instead of waiting until year 15 and identifying a crisis, as you say, we are identifying it as a risk now and asking the Board to allow us to deal with it now.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  I might come back to that a little bit.

If you look at this same -- look at page 3E, it is just the next page of the compendium, and I would like you to look at the middle paragraph there.  The second sentence there reads:

"Should the Board reject Union's proposal to depreciate the project assets over a 20-year useful life, Union will address the impacts of the Board's decision as part of its 2019 rebasing application."

The question is, Mr. Isherwood, I don't think you're saying that if you -- let me put it a little more directly.

If the Board decides to -- if the Board decides to stick with its standard procedure, its 50-year weighted average depreciation, is it the case that Union will still proceed with the project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was actually an interrogatory.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was actually a question in the interrogatory.  We're just trying to find the reference.


MR. BRETT:  I think it is CCC 20 -- I actually have that as well in here.  I think it is CCC 4.  Is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say we haven't changed our answer.  We definitely want to look at what the Board's discussion around that issue is.  But if they decide it was a 50 year depreciation instead of 20, we would definitely want to reserve judgment until we read the decision.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Given the way in which you have described the need for this project, and the amount of community work you have done, and the pressures that you have described, is it not a fair conclusion that this project is going to go ahead regardless of whether or not the Board accedes to the 20-year depreciation schedule?

And what you will do if they don't is that you will raise the issue again in a more comprehensive manner with, I suppose, more research and so on at the next rebasing project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we would still reserve judgment until we saw the decision.  We want to make sure the shareholder is not accepting additional risk.


You have to make those calls and decisions before you spend the $265 million.  It's not really something that you decide after the fact.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, if you turn up page 6(c) of the compendium, 6(c), this is a question -- Mr. Buonaguro touched on this area, but this is a question having to do with the settlement conference and what impact the settlement conference in the last rebasing case has on this issue of depreciation.

On page 6(c), if I could ask you to look at paragraph little (i) -- sorry, look at the last paragraph on the page, and this is an excerpt-- these pages are a four or five-page excerpt from the settlement agreement, as you can see.

It says, starting in the last paragraph on that page which is 6(c) in the compendium, page 19 of the settlement agreement:

"In determining net delivery requirement for any year, the following parameters will be applied.  Depreciation expense will be calculated using the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates."

Does that not -- does that statement not hint at the fact that you will be using -- that the Board ought to continue to use its overall depreciation -- well, I will call it its traditional approach to depreciation, the 50-year term, for the balance of this IRM?  Does that not point in that direction?

If they are going to use it for purposes of determining whether a capital project qualifies in first instance, which they are, wouldn't it be by extension that they would use it for other purposes as well?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Our interpretation of the agreement is that it would be used to assess whether a project qualifies for capital pass-through treatment, but not necessarily to calculate the revenue requirement.

MR. BRETT:  Would you also agree that the -- well, just on that, would you also agree with me, though, that -- and I don't need you to, I don't think, turn up these pages, because I think you are probably well aware of them.

But the proposal to change from a 50- to a 20-year depreciation does not represent a Y-factor, correct?  It's not a -- it's not one of the Y-factor categories referred to in the settlement agreement?

MS. MIKHAILA:  There isn't a Y-factor for depreciation calculations.

MR. BRETT:  It is not a Y-factor.

MS. MIKHAILA:  But there is a Y-factor related to capital pass-through of projects, of which --


MR. BRETT:  Well, maybe I should ask you to turn up the -- let me just see if I can find the page.  I have a page of my compendium that deals with the list of what the Y-factors are.

It is 6(b).  It is page 6(b).  Really, all I am trying to -- all I am really trying to establish here is, if you look at that list of Y-factors -- upstream gas cost, upstream transportation cost, incremental DSM, LRAM for contract rate classes, UFG volumes, major capital additions as defined below -- and then over on the first -- well, I think those are they.

Those don't -- maybe I should put it slightly different.  Those don't constitute -- those don't include depreciation, right?  Depreciation is not a project cost, in the sense that these are.  These are all about extra capital costs, extra gas, extra DSM costs, and so on.

All I really want to establish is that the depreciation -- a change in depreciation method doesn't fit in those boxes.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, within the major capital additions category that does qualify for Y-factor treatment.

MR. BRETT:  The capital addition does.  What I am talking about is the change in depreciation treatment of that investment.

MS. MIKHAILA:  The recovery of the investment is through the depreciation expense.

MR. BRETT:  Let me just also ask you to confirm that it is not -- that the change in depreciation practice or approach is not a Z factor.  Would you agree with that?  The Z factors are laid out at page 6(d) of the compendium.  They're things like -- well...

MS. MIKHAILA:  We've not proposed it as a Z factor.  We have considered it as part of the Y-factor treatment with the capital pass-through mechanism.

MR. BRETT:  So it is not a Z factor.

MS. MIKHAILA:  We have not proposed it as a Z factor.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So Mr. Brett, that might actually be a legal discussion, right?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That might actually be a legal discussion.  We haven't actually looked at Z factors.  We  -- as --


MR. BRETT:  You want to ask me where it is?  The list?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, no, we have the list.  I'm just saying, do Z-factors apply?  We haven't looked at it.  I don't know.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  I didn't quite get your -- are you changing the answer?  Are you saying that it is not a Z factor -- is it not a Z factor or it is?  You're not proposing it be a Z factor.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We haven't considered it as a Z factor to this point.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I'm not ruling it out as a potential legal argument.

MR. BRETT:  You're not ruling anything out.

MR. KEIZER:  What he's basically -- I think he's saying is they haven't contemplated it and they haven't interpreted the agreement in respect of that, so I think he's --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's -- that's --


MR. KEIZER:  -- indicating that may be interpretation, which is beyond their scope.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.

Just a final question on the timing of this.  Is there any -- is there any great prejudice to Union in -- no, I will withdraw that question.  Let's let that go.

I want to touch on abandonment plans.  Is that a question for this panel?  Or should that be for the next panel?  Abandonment plans.  You are going to abandon some pipeline.

MR. KEIZER:  I think it may be best -- let me just have a moment, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

MR. KEIZER:  Let me just have a moment to confer, and I can advise you which is the right panel.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Brett, just to clarify.  Your question is going to be related to the actual construction process and how it is dealt with within the context of abandonment?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess, based upon the hearing plan as we saw it, we don't have a construction witness here, and so we didn't present them as such.

MR. BRETT:  Well, you know, I can just pass over this question.  I think it is not that important.

MR. KEIZER:  If it's fine.  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  I want to come back to -- this is BOMA 18.  So this is page 8 of the compendium.  Have a look at page 8 for a moment.

And I am looking at, in particular, your answer to Part B, which would be at page 9 -- sorry, that would be page 9(a).  Next page.  The question is really on page 8.  The answer is on page 9(a).

The question really was, in short, was, we asked you whether or not you had spoken to the Ontario government about compensation for stranded assets or potentially stranded assets, and that that be considered as part of the government's -- the use of proceeds from the greenhouse gas program.

And your answer was no, was fairly -- you said that you were focused on using the proceeds to improve and leverage natural gas infrastructure and fund natural gas solutions that provide economic efficiencies and environmental benefits to customers.  And I have no difficulty with that.

But you'd agree with the fact that you would like to take that approach is not inconsistent with talking to the government or alerting the government to the potential for stranded costs, wouldn't you?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would assume that the government is aware that if you electrify the province and move 100 percent of homes from gas to electric that there would be stranded assets.  That's why on that hybrid solution I talked about using gas for the cold winter days and electric heat for the milder winter days and shoulder months you are actually using both systems, existing systems, gas and electric, and avoiding new infrastructure and avoiding having stranded assets, or at least less stranded assets.

MR. BRETT:  Your position really there is, if I can paraphrase it a bit, is you don't think there is really a significant risk of stranded costs.  You think that there is sufficient other opportunities, and your whole approach here is that you're going to build up the gas market so that there won't be any stranded cost risk.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think as I testified earlier, as part of the Long-Term Energy Plan process that the Minister of Energy has ongoing, we would be proposing a potential solution.  Whether they find that valuable and adopt it, I don't know.  But we will be providing a solution that will at least use natural gas assets to the most ability that we can.

MR. BRETT:  I have a question on the rate -- well, I have a question on the report, I'm sorry.  Let me just go ahead here.  I'm going to cross out a few of these things.


I have a couple of questions on cost allocation, which I think will take me to the break probably, and then we will be done.

Now, the first of these is -- actually, the first of these is -- look on page 11.  If you would turn up page 11 of the compendium, some of this -- if you look at the first answer there, this is an interrogatory from my colleague, Mr. Aiken, and so it's his IR number 3.

Look at his question (a):
"Please explain why the rate impacts for Union Gas South customers appear to be different, depending on whether or not a rate class has Panhandle demands."

And the answer you give is:
"The Union South rate impacts vary, based on each rate class' proportion of 2013 Board-approved and incremental project-related Panhandle system design day demands, and the increase in the revenue requirement of the rate class related to the project costs relative to the revenue requirement on the rate class prior to adding the project costs."

So you have two things at play, as you say.  You have the size of the project; potentially, I guess, the amount of the assets in the Panhandle system after this project.  And you have the proportion of the rate class -- that particular rate class has their assets in the Panhandle system design day demand.

And what I am -- what I would like to ask is, and the rate impacts, the next question which I will come to in a moment shows the rate impact changes.  Mr. Aiken had set out some -- asked you to some out some scenarios.  But before I get to that, at a more general level, there seems to be two changes you are making here in the cost allocation.

One is you are removing the St. Clair assets -- at the moment, St. Clair system assets are bundled with the Panhandle system assets, right?  They're part of the Panhandle system asset for cost allocation purposes?

MS. MIKHAILA:  For cost allocation, they're combined and we call that Ojibway-St. Clair.


MR. BRETT:  You are proposing to separate them in this case for the expansion, for the new assets you are going to -- you are going to take out the -- you are going to split apart the Panhandle system into its truly Panhandle part and the St. Clair part, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, for this project, we have proposed to allocate just the project cost which is related only to the Panhandle, using the Panhandle design day demands.


But we are not proposing to alter the allocation of the original 2013 Board-approved costs.  Those will remain combined in our proposal.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, you have had the two lumped together for quite some time, I guess.  When did you originally create this Panhandle system allocator which includes both Panhandle system assets and the St. Clair assets?  When was that first set up?  Does that go right back to the beginning, sort of?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I believe it was in -- let me just look it up.

In 1999, we included that functional classification within the cost study.  But prior to that, when we first introduced say the C1 ex-franchise transportation service in 1990, it was combined then to derive a common unit rate.

MR. BRETT:  That was in 1990?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And why are you changing it now?  Well, let me just preface that by one other question.  By making that change -- and I don't have the evidentiary reference, I was looking at it earlier this morning.  I think it is at about page 12 of your evidence on cost allocation and rate design.

But would you agree that by making that change, you are shifting the rate impacts considerably?  Notably, the T2 rate impact is negative, that is to say it goes down, whereas the M4 and M2 rates impact is positive.  They go up, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I will just say that the rate T2 rates do not go down.  But versus the Board-approved allocation that are proposed, they have less costs than Board approved.


MR. BRETT:  I take it -- and I am not a cost allocation, but I take it at a very broad level that is because you are extracting from the Panhandle system allocator an area which is very -- in which large industrial customers are very predominant, namely the Sarnia area, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now I want you to turn --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just on that case, though.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're allocating costs to the Panhandle area only because they're the ones driving the cost.  That is why we're doing that.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, all right.  But presumably, that was the case in earlier reinforcements to the Panhandle system.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There has been no major reinforcements to the Panhandle.  This is the first one in decades.

MS. MIKHAILA:  The current combined system has a revenue requirement of 7.1 million.

We're going to be adding to that 25 to 27 million dollars.  So by adding that to the current -- the current methodology, creates significant impacts to customers that are not -- do not even use the Panhandle system.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Okay.  Let me go over to just to see if we could -- let me go over to page 12 of the compendium.  This is the material I was referring to a moment ago that you -- the scenarios that you had laid out at Mr. Aiken's request.

I am interested here in pages 12(a), 12(b) and 12(c).  There is a fourth page, 12(d), but I am not interested in that at the moment.

What I am trying to get my mind around is -- let me look, first -- looking at the directional impacts on delivery charges, right, of these changes.  And what I want to look at first is the M4.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Brett, I just -- I realize actually this clock is in the room is a bit slow.  So actually it is -- and I am sorry to interrupt you because I did say 12:30.  But is it possible that we could take –-


MR. BRETT:  I can do it when I come back.


MS. DUFF:  That's wonderful.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I know you have to rush.  But just before you rise, we've got a rough copy of the transcript; I appreciate that.

I wonder if Union could consider over the lunch break where there is any correspondence with Panhandle pipeline that postdates the correspondence already filed as attachment 2 to the FRPO motion response.


There's been some discussion about late-breaking developments.  And if that response to the motion needs to be updated, it would be helpful to have that information this afternoon.

MS. DUFF:  Do you understand the question, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I understand the question.  We just also have available, if it is of assistance, the speaking notes from this morning.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Yes.  We see Board Staff also regarding the transcript.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:38 p.m.
Procedural Matters:


MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Okay.  In terms of procedural matters -- welcome back, everybody.  In terms of procedural matters, I had asked first thing this morning regarding the confidentiality request for those documents.

Did any party have any objections to the confidential treatment of the three documents we referred to this morning?

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  I can understand in the technical conference Union expressed their concern was that the electric generation loads on a daily basis not be put on the public record, and we respected that.

In my submission of the package this weekend, I ensured that I put the aggregate Windsor market together, and there was no display of specific generator load.  So one alternative for your consideration is that it can be put on the public record the total Windsor market load so we can talk to those numbers in aggregate and not be confined to issues of confidentiality for the aggregate Windsor market and leaving the detail of the electric generation load on a daily basis private and confidential.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I believe in our correspondence of yesterday we indicated that that was not a confidential component.  So we have no problem with that.

MS. DUFF:  That was my understanding as well.  Thank you.

So the Board has reviewed the unredacted versions and approves Union's request for confidential treatment.  The OEB finds that the information related to landowner compensation, daily consumption by consumer type, individual consumer data which could be deduced, the identification of specific customers within Union's area, and commentary on the intentions of third parties should not be made public.

Therefore, the four documents will be provided with confidential treatment and continue on that basis.

Now, before we proceed with -- Mr. Brett, was there another additional matter?  Yes, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, there was an additional matter, and that was that my friends asked today about the disclosure of further e-mail correspondence or correspondence further on from the motion where we had provided disclosure.

And so over the lunch hour Union revisited that issue, and so the process of looking for the e-mails and correspondence, obviously we want to make sure that it is thorough.  So that process has begun.

The concern we have is, is that it is obviously not immediate, and that correspondence would have to be first found, reviewed, and then determined if there was anything confidential or otherwise within those e-mails.

And so what Union's proposal is, is to do that search and do its best to be able to provide that information this evening after it has a chance to do a thorough search.  It is not something that can be done immediate, as I say.

So the proposal in that regard would be that we finish this panel today and that we start with panel 2 first thing in the morning so that we would be able then to deal with everything in its entirety, that correspondence and all of the existing evidence that would be filed, so that we could address any issues arising both with respect to current events and recent events involving Panhandle Eastern, but anything that may fall from any correspondence that we ultimately find and do disclose, and recognizing that we still have -- you know, we have two days.  Obviously, we would like to be as efficient as possible, but we think it is also important to be thorough and be complete as possible too.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow, any comments on that?  You were -- in the original schedule you were to cross-examine today.
MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Madam Chair.  Thank you for pointing that out.  I may not have indicated earlier, but a number of us have been working together on this issue for some time, including, in particular, Mr. Quinn and Mr. Wolnik.  And as between the three of us, at least, I think we have an understanding that I would follow both of those examinations --


MS. DUFF:  Oh.

MR. MONDROW:  -- so it actually is not me that would be the determining person, but thank you for asking.  I thought I should -- so I think, in terms of the general proposal, I don't have any concerns.  But I will defer to Mr. Quinn and Mr. Wolnik as to whether there is any portion of their examination that they feel they can proceed with, and I don't know how that would sit with Union.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  I will start off by saying, yes, actually, I talked to Mr. Millar just briefly before your return, that I had worked the lunch hour in trying to parse out sections of my cross-examination that could be asked today, if it was to the Board's favour to be able to continue working today.

The other consideration is -- and I have had some discussions with Mr. Buonaguro -- that OGVG has been supportive of the application to this point and believe that it would be appropriate for Mr. Buonaguro to precede me in his examination of the panel.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Wolnik.

MR. WOLNIK:  I would be more comfortable going tomorrow, if I could.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I think that is acceptable.  I understand that.

Now, regarding the availability of panel number 2, Mr. Buonaguro, would you be prepared to go today?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My question -- I have about a half an hour of questions, and all of my questions have to do with the quote-unquote Ojibway alternative, which I think is partly what is being pushed over to tomorrow.  So that's the problem.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  The other concern I have is that certain participants on the panel may be involved in looking for the information in question.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, yes.

[Laughter]

MR. KEIZER:  So that may also be a factor.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I mean, I think, given this recent event and information, I think it is fairer to stand off until tomorrow and -- now, but still there is -- so panel number 2 would start tomorrow morning at 9:30.  It still leaves unresolved the issue about the order of cross-examination, though, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  They twisted my arm.  And I --


MS. DUFF:  I appreciate your cooperation.  I take that as a, 'Yes, I will go first'?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I will go first.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's fine.

And then among the three parties was there a preference?

MR. QUINN:  I would lead off amongst the three parties, followed by Mr. Wolnik and then Mr. Mondrow.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Followed by Mr. Wolnik?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And then IGUA.  "Mr. IGUA".  Okay, thank you very much.  Well, we got a lot accomplished.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Brett, thank you so much.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  You are very welcome, Madam Chair.

I just have one other question, panel, and that is, going back to page 12(a) of the -- 12(a), (b), and (c) of the compendium.  It's pretty much a factual question.

12(a), I just want to make sure I have this straight.  12(a) is the -- describes the impacts, the delivery charge impacts, on the various rate classes of Union's current proposal.  Is that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  It includes Union's proposed cost allocation as well as 20-year depreciation.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And is it the same essentially as 12(d)?  I said I was -- 12(d) basically, I think, was put in as insurance just in case 12(a) didn't include the St. Clair reallocation.  But I think it is essentially -- if I look at the numbers, they're very, very close.

MS. MIKHAILA:  12(d), or Exhibit B, LPMA 24, attachment 1, page 4, is not the same, because what we have shown here is, we've split out the St. Clair system, allocated it using the Sarnia industrial line design day demands.  And we split the existing costs from 2013 for Panhandle and allocated those using Panhandle design day demands.

So it's slightly different, because in our current proposal we did not --


MR. BRETT:  You took all of the costs historic -- not just --


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yeah.

MR. BRETT:  -- the incremental costs, but all of the costs.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  And we have allocated them using the Panhandle system separate from the St. Clair system, which is not in our proposal.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I think I will let Mr. Aiken, who is more familiar with these materials than I, to follow up on that if necessary.

Okay.  Just briefly then, 12(b) is the situation where it describes the delivery -- and I'm looking at -- I just used M4 as an example because it's -- some of my clients are in that area.  But on 12(a), you have M4 increases of 24.3 percent, 26.7 percent and some delivery charges.

On 12(b), you have a lesser impact and that is because you are using the current cost allocation, right?  You are still using the fast depreciation, but you are using the Board's current definition of the St. Clair system, which includes -- sorry, current definition of the Panhandle system which includes St. Clair?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Right.  So we've -- this has been allocated using the Board-approved cost allocation methodology, which we call the Ojibway-St. Clair allocation.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And then C is sort of -- 12C is sort of in the middle between those two.  12C shows the delivery rate effects of keeping the 50-year depreciation, but going with your proposed cost allocation, your reallocation, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Brett, what rate classes are your customers?

MR. BRETT:  Well, they are different ones, but they're mainly M4 and T1.  There would be some M2.  M2, M4, and a little of T1.

MS. DUFF:  That is helpful, thank you.  Mr. Aiken, you are next on the schedule.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  And in keeping with the theme of the day, I will be significantly under my time estimate.

My first question goes back to the forecast.  In your evidence -- I think it is in Exhibit A, tab 5 -- you talk about the new Windsor mega hospital, the Gordie Howe international bridge, and CNG facilities for transport fleets.

Are those three included in your five-year forecast?

MS. DUFF:  We can just wait.  We will just wait.

MS. CAILLE:  We have included contract rate growth in the forward-looking forecast, but we don't have a specific amount for the Windsor mega hospital.  What we've done is put new contract rate growth in the second, third and fourth years from customers.  We have put those as examples of customers that we believe will be coming onto the system.

So in 2018 and 2019, we've put some place holders of anticipated customers and a projection of volume.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving on to your depreciation Proposal, am I correct that with the 20-year proposal, the project would be fully depreciated by 2037?  Except for the land, but everything else depreciable would depreciate --


MS. MIKHAILA:  I think better than a half year depreciation, but essentially, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, when that happens in 2037 or 2038, is the assets -- let me ask you this.  Will those assets stay in service?  The net value will be zero in rate base, but would they stay in service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's no linkage between physical life and economic life.  So is there still a need for the assets?  We would expect there would be still some flow in those pipelines, and it would still be in service.  There would just be no depreciation expense in later years.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  But you would expect that they would stay in service, or that that line would stay in service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's hard to say, but I would expect there would be some volume still.

MR. AIKEN:  When I look at the schematic, and this is Exhibit KT1.1, I am trying to figure out how that 40 kilometres would be taken out of service, and you would still be able to service Windsor, Chatham, and Leamington regardless of how low the volumes got.  Could you serve that market using just one of the lines coming out of Dawn rather than both?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, as described in Mr. Redford's opening statement, the two lines serve different markets between Dawn and the end point.

I think he described the 16-inch serving a different market along the path, and the 20-inch serving Leamington, for example.  The 16-inch doesn't serve Leamington; it serves primarily Windsor and kind of north of the Burlington line.

So it would be hard to take one line out of service without having to do a lot of replumbing to connect the other markets to the remaining line.

So not impossible, but it would be difficult.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to Exhibit B LPMA 17, updated?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What was the number?  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  LPMA 17, and I am looking at the response, attachment 1.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know if I have the updated version.  I'm sorry, there it is right there on the screen.  It's magic.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  Am I correct that with respect to the net present value of the revenue requirement, the use of the 20-year depreciation rate, which is shown online 1, results in customers paying more than they would under use of the current OEB-approved depreciation rate overall of the terms shown, which are ten years through fifty years?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The customers would pay for -- Union would recover its investment quicker during the 20 years.  So customers would pay for the assets sooner than under the OEB Board-approved depreciation.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, as an example under the 20-year column under your proposal, the net present value of the amounts paid by the ratepayers would be 248 million, whereas it would be 181 million under the -- using the current depreciation rates.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  But it is panel 2 who actually provided this response, so beyond that we may need to have them answer any further questions.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, speaking of further questions, my question is:   If the net present value of the revenue requirement is higher under your proposal, what I am trying to understand is which components are higher and which components are lower of that revenue requirement.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Mr. Hockin can probably address that.  He is the one that did the calculations.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.  Will leave that.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I can say there is the response in LPMA 17(a).  It is the depreciation expense, the return on rate base, and income taxes that are impacted by the proposal.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I think I will follow up with Mr. Hockin on that, because my questions are more specific.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  If we go to the response to Staff number 4 on page 5, in the fourth paragraph it states that the change in the depreciation rate now would enable recovery of the investment from all customers, rather than expecting to recover the investment later from the customers that remain on the system.

So when I read that, I thought, well, Union is not just concerned about declining volumes as in declining use per customer through the normal conservation efforts and everything else, but you are afraid that you are actually going to lose customers.  Is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I think the provincial government's intent is to electrify the province.  So to the extent the they're electrifying homes, converting gas furnaces to electric-based technology, then we would essentially be losing load.

Union's proposal would be a hybrid solution, where we keep a bit of gas and electric in every home.  But the provincial direction today is electrifying homes and businesses.

MR. AIKEN:  I take it this ties in with the response in CCC 4, where -- you don't need to pull it up, it says:

"The benefit of reducing the depreciation period now to 20 years is that it recovers the investment from as many customers as soon as possible, which will minimize the rate impact to customers."

So your concern again is if you have a million customers, 20 years from now you might only have 900,000 customers.  Is that the concern?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think directionally that's right.  And I think from a rate-making perspective you want to recover the costs from the customers that are driving the cost.

I had mentioned earlier on about the TransCanada example, where they're depreciating the northern Ontario line quicker.  There is a lot different customer mix today paying those costs, higher depreciation costs, than there was 20 years ago when those facilities were built, or 30 years ago.

So in an example where if you wait too long it could be a whole different customer group or a reduced customer group actually paying the costs, so by starting sooner you are getting the same customers that are driving the costs to recover the cost.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I take it from what I have heard earlier today that Union has the same concerns with other planned capital expenditures regardless of whether they're in southern Ontario or North Bay.  And you have the same concerns with your existing assets that are in rate base.  And that's why you may be proposing depreciation rate changes when you come into rebase.  Is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  We're doing a depreciation study for the rebasing, and that will look at the entire existing system.  We're just targeting this particular system because there is a significance of the expansion cost and the fact that this proceeding does go to cost recovery.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, again in the response to CCC number 4 you indicate that:

"Union plans to review alternatives, including depreciation rates, from a system-wide basis to address this risk as part of its 2019 rebasing application."

Do you have any idea what those other alternatives would be?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have not been involved in those discussions.  I have only been involved in this one at this point in time.

MR. AIKEN:  But I take it from the evidence that there are other alternatives that may be available other than changing the depreciation rates?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not aware.

MR. AIKEN:  Turning now to the cost allocation -- and I think I understand this, but what you are doing is proposing a new allocator for the costs of this project only while maintaining the current allocation of the existing Panhandle costs.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  In your 2013 rebasing applications -- application, am I correct that the allocator used for the Panhandle transmission assets was called the Ojibway-St. Clair demand allocator?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it was.

MR. AIKEN:  And in this context, Ojibway and Panhandle mean the same thing?  We're talking about the same assets?

MS. MIKHAILA:  They are the same assets, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Do you know what the net book value of the 16-inch line that is being removed from service is?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't have that information.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you know how that removal from rate base has been taken into account in the calculation of the costs to be recovered from ratepayers?  Or has it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It has...  Similar to any other abandonment costs we would have, the original cost of the asset would be netted with the reserve for the assets and it would no longer be depreciated.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add to that.  That line was installed in 1950, so the book value would be -- I would expect to be very low.

MS. MIKHAILA:  The book value would be very low, but it would be the original costs that would be netted with the accumulated depreciation --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. MIKHAILA:  -- for rate base purposes.

MR. AIKEN:  When I looked at the 2013 rebasing cost allocation model, there was also an Ojibway-St. Clair commodity allocator.

Is there a corresponding new commodity allocator that corresponds to your proposal for the new demand allocator?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No.  This project would all be considered demand costs.

MR. AIKEN:  So there are no commodity costs associated --


MS. MIKHAILA:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And also in your 2013 cost allocation model, there is what is called another transmission allocator.  And that has roughly $225 million in rate base.

Can you tell me what transmission lines -- line or lines -- are included in that allocator?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't have the -- all the specific lines, but it would be the transmission lines throughout Union south, with the exception of Dawn to Parkway, St. Clair system, and Panhandle system.

MR. AIKEN:  So would those transmission lines -- for example, would the Dominion line be considered transmission?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I believe so, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And the Owen Sound line?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Owen Sound line, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, okay.  In the response to B, LPMA 19, if I can find it here -- I just want to make sure I am reading the numbers in columns A and B correctly on attachment 1.  When I look at these numbers where my client resides in rates M1, M2, and M4, I take it that your proposal increases the costs allocated to the M1 class by about five-and-a-half million, going from seven-and-a-half to the 13, and increases the costs allocated to the M2 and M4 by about 2 million each.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then finally on the response to LPMA 24 -- and Mr. Brett started talking about this.  Unfortunately he didn't finish, so I have to finish it for him.

MS. DUFF:  That's why you are going afterwards.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And it was interesting, because I was going to concentrate on the M4 as well.  And specifically the M4 large customer.

And first of all, would many of the greenhouse operators fall under the M4 large category?

MS. CAILLE:  They would, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I have got this 2-by-2 matrix in my head, and I tried to write it down.  I wanted to see the impacts of your depreciation change and your cost allocation change on a typical large M4 customer.

So starting off on the first page that is on the screen there, with your proposal, which is the cost allocation change and the depreciation change, the increase in the delivery charge to a large M4 customer is about $74,000.  Then when you go to the next page, page 2 of attachment 1, this is the impact of no cost allocation change, but with the depreciation change, and that same customer then would get a $27,700 increase.

So if my math is correct, that means your cost allocation -- or the impact of your cost allocation change on this customer would be an increase of about $46,000.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  And then if you go to the third page, this is based on your proposed cost allocation but no change in the depreciation rate.  And the increase for that customer would then be $49,800.  So relative to your proposal, that -- or, sorry, your proposal relative to this is an increase of about $24,000.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Are you comparing it to the current proposal?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So what I'm trying to get at is the change in your depreciation proposal with your cost allocation proposal increases the cost to this customer by about $24,000.  The difference between the 74- and the 49,800.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  The depreciation impact is that, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, what is missing here -- because page 4 is something totally different -- is, what would be the impact on this customer with no change in the depreciation rate and no change in the cost allocation?  Could I simply take that 46,000 impact for the cost allocation change and the 24,000 for the depreciation change, add them together, get $70,000, and compare that to your proposal, which is a 74,000 increase, and say that if you didn't change the cost allocation and you didn't change the depreciation, the impact on this customer would be about $4,000?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I'm not sure.  I would have to take that math away.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I don't need an exact number.  I just want to know if I am going -- if I am in the neighbourhood of the impacts.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I haven't done that calculation, so I can't necessarily speak to it.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide a schedule where there is no change in either depreciation or the cost allocation?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I can do that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.2.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just for M4 large?
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  FOR M4 LARGE, TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE WHERE THERE IS NO CHANGE IN EITHER DEPRECIATION OR THE COST ALLOCATION

MR. AIKEN:  I am told all of them.  I am waiting to see if they accepted.

MR. KEIZER:  I thought we had accepted.  I apologize.

MR. AIKEN:  Oh, okay.  Then I am waiting for somebody to number it.  They did that, too?  Well, I am done then.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Would you like just the delivery rate impact schedule, or the full bill impact schedule that we have provided in other scenarios?

MR. AIKEN:  I wanted the same as what is in LPMA 24.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Okay, thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And I think I said I'm done.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Millar, while we're a assigning document numbers, just one question.

Before the lunch break, we handed out this opening statement.  Did we assign that a number?

MR. MILLAR:  No, we didn't, Madam Chair.  I propose - I don't think we need to mark the transcript because that will be circulated separately tonight.  But there was also the opening statement.  I think we're at 4, so that is K1.4.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:   Opening statement

MS. DUFF:  Great.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MS. DUFF:  CME, Mr. DeRose, and I guess you also have some questions regarding or from CCC?

MR. DeROSE:  I do, although I have to tell you they're intermingled, so I am not going to -- I guess I could theoretically flag them for you.

MS. DUFF:  Not necessary.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Panel, good afternoon.

All of my questions today will be focussed on the area of depreciation, and the proposed change from Board-approved 50 years to the 20 years.

I would like to start by picking up on a conversation you just had with Mr. Aiken, and it is with respect to your stated intention to review depreciation from a system-wide basis as part of your 2019 rebasing application.

Mr. Isherwood, did I hear you right that as part of the 2019 rebasing application, that you would anticipate filing a full depreciation study?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And has that already been commenced, do you know?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure.  It is the intent to do that.

MR. DeROSE:  And when you say -- when you refer to a depreciation study, that depreciation study, would you anticipate it being similar to what was filed for the 2013 rates, where the depreciation study addressed all of your transmission and distribution assets?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I would expect it would be similar to the one filed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if the Board panel in this case directed that the Panhandle -- let's just assume for a moment that they approve all of your requests except for the depreciation.

So the direction is you can go ahead and build.  You can have it in service for 2017, but you depreciate on the current Board-approved 50 year depreciation.

Do I understand right that your view is that that would then be reconsidered in a 2019 rebasing application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may be as part of the independent study.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is there -- or from your perspective, why would you not simply defer that until the 2019 system-wide depreciation assessment with the study?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, when you look at the difference in depreciation expense for that one year, essentially you're talking about the depreciation expense for 2018, there is a significant difference obviously between the two proposals.

So implementing it as part of this decision and getting agreement on this decision, it actually allows one extra year or one earlier year of recovery.

MR. DeROSE:  And when you say a significant amount, when you look at it over 20 years or 50 years, is it that significant?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is the first year out of 20.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just in terms of the timing, so that I understand it right, you would -- for 2017, if Panhandle is put into service in the anticipated schedule, it would be sometime in 2017.  So for 2017, you would only have a half year depreciation expense, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  We take half a year depreciation in the first year, regardless of when it goes into service during the year.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then in terms of -- if you want your rates in place for 2019, I take it you would be filing sometime in 2018, the depreciation study?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think we are planning on filing at the end of 2017.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in CCC 3 -- and I don't think it has to be pulled up -- you also indicated that you intend to assess facility applications on a case-by-case basis up and until the 2019 rebasing application.

Do you at the moment anticipate any other facility applications between now and then, where you are going to seek 20-year depreciation or something less than 50?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the only case I can think of that would be between now and then would be new community expansion, if we decide to refile that or not.  We have not determined if we will go down that path or not yet.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, you have referred to today, on a few points, Board Staff 4.  This is the interrogatory where you sort of took all of the questions from all of the intervenors and summarized the short-term, medium-term and long-term risks or impacts.

And at page 4 of 5, where you go through the long-term Impact -- and I hope I am not simplifying it too much, but to me, the long term impact really was just CCAP.  I couldn't see any other driver for your uncertainty, other than CCAP.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say that is the big umbrella, if you want.  But within the CCAP, for example, the government is proposing changing building codes.  So that is, I guess, a program or an element of the CCAP.  But it will be broader than just government funding of programs.  It also involves building codes, that type of thing.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  But it is not unique to Panhandle, is it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  So is it fair to say that the uncertainty that you have identified for CCAP would either -- either would apply or would potentially apply to either some or all of your assets?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be the purpose of the depreciation study for '19, to look at the whole system.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Just before I leave Board Staff number 4, if you could turn to Page 5 of five, the second-last full paragraph that starts:
"The proposal to change the depreciation rate now enables the recovery of the investment from all customers rather than expecting to recover the investment later from the customers that remain on the system."

If you are wrong, and 20 years from now CCAP does not lead to customers leaving your system, would those customers not, in a sense, be -- have access to a system that previous generations have paid for them?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry.  If they haven't left the system, then it is the same customers we have today?  Is that the premise of the question

MR. DeROSE:  Well, if it's not the same customer.  I am assuming -- 20 years is a long time.  There are customers today that will not be your customers 20 years from now, but there could be other customers.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The example I gave earlier around the northern Ontario line and TransCanada, if you go back to when the pipeline was first built, it would have had a lot of -- for example, a lot of western Canadian producers and shippers on that pipeline.

Those producers are no longer on the pipeline.  So the people on the pipeline today are utilities in eastern Canada.  So the people recovering or paying the -- sorry, it's people paying the costs of depreciation in the northern Ontario line are a much smaller subset of the people on the line when it was first built.  


So that paragraphs is just trying to get sort of that intergenerational comment in there, in terms of customers that are driving the costs would be picking up the costs in the front part of the depreciation period.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, doesn't --


MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry.  I would also like to add that the current customers on the Panhandle system have benefited from a low deep -- a low rate base currently of the Panhandle system that was constructed in 1950.  So they're already the beneficiaries of a low-cost system and have -- and may have lower rates because of that currently.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, are they not simply paying over the Board-approved depreciated period of time?


MS. MIKHAILA:  To the extent that period is greater than the depreciation rates when the system was first installed, they would also have a net book value of zero in benefiting from it.


MR. DeROSE:  Except isn't one of the differences that they're still paying for it, as opposed to, if you have an accelerated depreciation, that we know -- well, let me back up.


Do you agree that the 50-year -- current 50-year depreciation is generally aligned with what you anticipate to be the physical life of the asset?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  Not necessarily.  We have assets that live longer physically than they do economically.  Or, you know, the depreciation period is shorter than the physical life.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you have a lot of assets that have a depreciation value that is half or a third of what the physical life is anticipated to be?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Dawn to Dawn service would be an example where the depreciation rate was five years, and that service can live on much longer than five years.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  Just turning to APPrO 7.  And again, I don't think you need to turn it up, but in APPrO 7 you were asked about independent studies, and you confirmed that you did not undertake a depreciation study for the change that you are asking the Board to make in this case.


Why did you not do that in this case for this change in depreciation rates when you are acknowledging that in about a year and a half you are going to file a depreciation study to address all of the system-wide changes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is important to note kind of the timing of the evidence relative to the whole climate initiative within Ontario.


So if you think of when the act first became public in draft format and the regulations, it was in February.  They both became complete and final in basically mid-May.  The Climate Change Action Plan came out, I think, in June the 8th or something, and this evidence got filed June the 10th.


So this has been all kind of unfolding, happening, right around the time we were preparing the evidence.


We also said, if you recall back in May, the big Globe & Mail article where there was some Cabinet leak or something happened and some of the preliminary reviews of the Climate Change Action Plan got leaked to the press, apparently, and they were calling for a banning of natural gas.  That happened sort of the third week of May.


So you kind of think of what is happening in February, March, April, May, the same time as evidence is coming together, it was really developing -- this Climate Change Action Plan vision of the government was unfolding kind of in real time.  So it would have been difficult to do an individual, independent study at that point in time without delaying the application.  But I think clearly the vision is there.


MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that if the Board feels that it would benefit from such an independent study, the first opportunity that you would have to file such a study would be 2019 rebasing?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  It takes a long time to do a depreciation study.


MR. DeROSE:  While we're still on APPrO 7, I just want to make sure that I understand your answers to (b) and (c).


In those questions, APPrO asked you for (c) to estimate the increase in revenue requirement of the rate impact to customers with depreciation period criteria applied to all transmission and distribution facilities commencing in 2019.
Do I understand -- and you give the question that the -- or sorry, the answer is that if all transmission and distribution assets were depreciated over 20 years -- so this is not just Panhandle.  It is all of your assets, correct?


MS. MIKHAILA:  All of the transmission and distribution assets, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if all of those assets were changed from 50 years to 20 years, that the expense would increase from approximately 180 million to 340 million?  Is that -- and do I understand right that where you give -- in the next sentence, you confirm that the average rate increase would be about 16 percent.  Is that -- that would be a 16 percent rate increase over all rate classes driven solely from the change from 50 years to 20 years?


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  That was just a very simple calculation of impacts.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so it gives the Board, this panel -- I take it this panel can at least rely on -- well, to me it gives me a threshold of what can be anticipated in the 2019 rebasing application if your depreciation study determines that 20 years is appropriate, as opposed to 50.


Is it a fair proxy for the type of rate increases that we can anticipate?


MR. KEIZER:  I don't know why the 2016 rebasing is relevant in this proceeding --


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, sorry, 2019.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, 2019 rebasing is relevant.  I am just, I'm struggling with that.  We have a proposal for depreciation in respect of this project.  What we intend to file, what Union intends to file at that time, a depreciation study, but I am not sure if all of the factors, I think, necessarily are there, nor should we see this proceeding as a pre-evaluation of what that application may contain or what it shouldn't contain or -- and it's I think into argument as to what the Board should comment or not comment on with respect to that future application.


MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, just so that I can explain my thought process here, is that you are being asked in this case to change depreciation for a single project without a depreciation study, and you have been advised by the utility that there is a full depreciation study coming in approximately a year and a half.


And we've also heard today that the uncertainty that is being driven by CCAP is not unique to Panhandle, that it is viewed as applicable across all of its distribution and transmission assets.


And so from our perspective, while I recognize that panels are not bound by the decisions of previous panels, when we're talking about the close proximity and making a change from 50 years to 20 years in a single application, what the impact -- what the rate impact would be if your decision is then seen as a precedent and applied in a future rate case, I submit, is relevant.  But I think the rate increases are there.  I don't need to ask any more questions on it, and I can move on.


MS. DUFF:  That's what I was going to ask you.  Were you unable to ask a question that you had planned or --


MR. DeROSE:  No.  That was the end of that question, so...


If I can take you to Board Staff 3.  And I have -- in (c) Board Staff asked you what conditions of deteriorating demand would Union's proposed asset fail to be used and useful, and the answer to that at page 4 of 5, and you start by taking issue with, should it be -- failed to be used or useful rather than used and useful.  And you point out that an asset does not have to be used to be included in rates.


So just stopping there.  Where an asset is not being used but is included in rates, are you referring there to stranded assets?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess an asset that is available to be used but is not being used.  And it may be stranded.  It may be pipe that is put in place and not required yet by the customer.  It could be, you know, a number of different things, but if it is available for use, it is just not in use.


MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, could you explain the difference between that and a stranded asset?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, if I am building a pipe for a customer and they ask for November 1 in-service date, I have my pipe in service October 31, but the customer is delayed by two weeks or three weeks or a month, the pipe is built.  It is ready to go.  It is basically in service.  I wouldn't call it stranded.  I would call it in service, ready to go.


Maybe at the other end of the life cycle where the pipe is no longer used and may not be used, you know, that may be more your example of a stranded asset.  But I am thinking more in terms of an asset that is built to serve a customer but not in use yet.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then just, if we can go to the next page -- and this is my last question -- is, I just want to understand.  You say that given that Union has 58 tJs a day of transportation capacity to Ojibway, Union could reduce the reliance on these supplies and replace them with suppliers at Dawn and therefore increasing utilization of the proposed facilities, and therefore demands would have to drop by more than 58 tJs a day just to reduce the usage of the pipe below 100 percent, let alone a level of the facilities were significantly under-utilized.


Do I understand it right that the uncertainty that you are identifying with respect to CCAP, you are concerned that the utilization will drop more than 58 tJs in the 15- to 20-year range?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what this is calling out is that we have options to keep the pipe full, and the one option we have is if in the future, 10, 20, 30 years down the road, we have the pipe under utilized, one of the things to look at is if we can supply the gas out of Dawn cheaper than bringing the gas into Ojibway, we can make that switch.

It is an operating flexibility that we will have in the future, and if the pipeline is under utilized by 58 tJs or more, it would be an easy option for us to undertake.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is just an option.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Rubenstein?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I just have a couple of questions.  I provided a short excerpt from the EB-2013-0202 settlement agreement.

I am not sure if the panel has it.  It was sitting on Mr. Millar's chair at the lunch break.

MR. MILLAR:  It is the 0202 settlement agreement, Mr. Rubenstein?  Yes, we do have that.  So I will bring copies up to the panel.  It is K1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  EB-2013-0202 settlement agreement

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is simply an excerpt from the Union settlement agreement from 2013-0202, so the IRM settlement agreement.

There has been a lot of discussion about the depreciation and about should the Board approve the move from 50 years to 20 years.  I just want to put -- ask you what the Board could do, based on the settlement agreement.

If I could ask you to turn to page 18 of the settlement agreement, this is the second page, I will just walk you through the settlement agreement under major capital additions which you are seeking the pass-through for, and it says at the beginning:
"The parties agree to y-factor treatment for major capital projects that meet the criteria in sections 1 through 8 below."

And then the rest of this page is discussing two specific applications.

If we go to the next page, on page 19 it says:

"Y-factor treatment also applies to additional capital projects that result in net delivery revenue requirement impacts over the IRM term which meet the requisite criteria specified below."

Then if we go to the bottom of this page, it says "In determining the net delivery revenue requirement for any year, the following parameters will apply", and the first bullet point is "Depreciation expense will be calculated using the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates."

So my question is, putting aside the policy, if it is wise to move from 50 to 20 years in this application -- as I read this, does the settlement agreement allow you to do that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Again as I had mentioned, our interpretation is that in order to qualify for Y-factor treatment, depreciation will be calculated using the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates, which we have provided in appendix B.

And this project does meet that criteria using those depreciation rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when it says "in determining the net delivery revenue requirement" and then those categories, that should be a different definition than at the top where it says the Y-factor treatment also applies to additional capital projects that result in a net delivery requirement?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. MIKHAILA:  In the paragraph above, the second paragraph of page 19, it says the criteria that must be met for a capital project to qualify for Y-factor treatment, and in the middle of that paragraph, it says:

"For the purposes of determining whether the rate impact threshold is met, the net delivery revenue requirement associated with the capital project for each of the year shall be calculated."

Should the net delivery revenue requirement exceed the rate impact threshold in any year, being the five million dollars, the project would meet the criterion, that is what --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So looking at page 18 again where it talks about that the net delivery revenue requirement impacts will be passed -- will be treated as Y-factors, the definition is changing.

The definition on page 19 only relates, in your view, to the threshold calculation.  Do I understand that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's how we have interpreted it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.

My other question -- I was a little confused with some of the discussion that was had with regard to some earlier questioners, and then your conversation with Mr. DeRose.

I had understood, Mr. Isherwood, when you were asked earlier on -- and I am forgetting exactly I who asked the question -- what would happen if the Board says no.  We will approve the project, but only with a depreciation of 20 years.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I took it your response -- and I was quickly jotting down the notes -- you said you would have to look at the decision, you would have to make sure the shareholder isn't taking on too much risk.  Is that generally what you were saying?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I go to Staff 4, this was what Mr. Aiken was taking you to, if we look at the third paragraph on that -- sorry, on Page 5, the third paragraph, it says:
"Accordingly, the change in revenue requirement for 2017 and 2018 between Union's proposal and Board-approved depreciation rate is a reduction of $14.2 million.  Should the Board reject Union's proposal to depreciate the project assets over a 20-year useful life, Union will address the impacts of the Board's decision as part of its 2019 rebasing application."

And it sounded similar to the discussion you had with Mr. DeRose, where he put it to you, well, will you just bring back the proposal again for the change in depreciation rates.

But those two, the interrogatory and your response seem different to we'll have to consider the issue.  We may not go forward with the project.  I am just trying to understand, what will it be.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  How I interpret page 5 of five is really we will come back with the whole system-wide review on whether depreciation should change from 50 years to 20 years.

The specific question, in terms of would this project go ahead, there is a different interrogatory -- and I forget which one it is.  It is CCC 4, and the question was asked specifically about this project.  Our response was it depends on what the Board -- the Board gives the reasons for the decision, what the reasons were.  So we would have to consider it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just ask you the likely scenario, it seems to me.  The Board would say come back and discuss this in 2019, when you are doing it on a system-wide basis.  Will Union go forward with the project, with the in-service date set out in the application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in our evidence, we proposed significant risk and I would hope or expect that the Board would address that risk.  Even in the new community expansion decision, the Board talks about the effects of Climate Change Action Plan and their conclusion is similar to ours: not much impact in the short term; uncertainty in the longer term.

So I would expect some similar discussion, and perhaps more discussion around our proposal and what it means to the risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand.  If I was the Board, I would want to know, we have one aspect, the depreciation issue is a significant issue for certain parties and obviously, some parties and Union say the current application needs to go forward.

So can you not provide -- is the threshold simply that they don't say -- the Board does not say in its decision that there is no way that you can get the depreciation changed?  If it just leaves it open, you still don't know if you will do the project with the in-service date in the application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You have to evaluate it relative to the risk of the shareholder.  If we felt the risk was increased, then obviously we wouldn't want to go ahead with it.  It is a significant cost to the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This wasn't considered in the evaluation before bringing forward this application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was considered, to the extent we would look to guidance from the Board in the Board decision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Janigan, are you prepared to go next?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a compendium that is before you, and I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6: Cross-Examination Compendium for VECC for Union Panel 2


MR. JANIGAN:  On page 6 of the compendium, panel, at table 5-3, you show the actual M4 forecast residential customer growth in the affected area.

And below that, in -- or above that, I should say, in table 5-2, you show what the design day requirement is associated with each of these periods associated with the post-Leamington expansion and the forecast growth.

And what I'm -- first of all, with table 5-2 I am trying to compare that to an exhibit that Mr. Mondrow gave you this morning, and I am afraid I didn't mark the number of that.  It might have been K1.1.  Was it?

MR. MILLAR:  1.2.

MR. JANIGAN:  1.2?  And it has on it that the -- in table 5-2, the forecast growth is 106 tJs, whereas if you look at the cumulative amount up to 2021 in that same period it is 96.

What accounts for the difference between the 106 figure and the 96?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am assuming it is the same number, because we're talking in the forecast out to 2021 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- in Table 5-2.  And in Mr. Mondrow's exhibit the bottom line is the winter of '21/'22.

MR. JANIGAN:  So that figure -- the 2,721 forecast growth is actually 2017 to 2022?

MS. CAILLE:  Yes.  I think that should say -- I am just double-checking a couple of exhibits as well, because we use the same figures in BOMA 3(d), which is where Mr. Mondrow got those figures from.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. CAILLE:  And it is 106 up 'til the end of winter 2021.  So I think that the issue is, this one, Mr. Mondrow's table has '21/'22, the winter period, versus the exhibit in Table 5-2 that you are referring to just says 2021.  It doesn't show the winter period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. CAILLE:  So they should both say "106."


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you for that.  What percentage of the design day requirement forecast growth of 106 tJs is accounted for by this -- by residential growth that is in 5-3?

MS. CAILLE:  We do it primarily by rate class, and the residential would fall into the M1.  We have categorized the M1 and M2 together being approximately 2 to 3 tJs per year.

So that would be, if you do the math times a five-year time period, you are looking into the 10 to 12 tJ.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So it is approximately a little over 10 percent?

MS. CAILLE:  That seems about right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  The percentage for these two periods, what percentage is accounted for by the demands of interruptible going firm?  Would that be the 90 percent or a lesser number?

MS. CAILLE:  Less than that.  I will have to look up that figure.  We had focused first on the first year with the large amount of growth.  So let me just see if I can find the figure on the five-year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. CAILLE:  Sorry, my compatriots are pointing me to APPrO 2, so I am going to look there.

So if you look at APPrO 2A we have got the conversion from firm to interruptible on the first line --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. CAILLE:  -- and then the new contract rate customers -- again, there's -- I apologize, there isn't a total column on the end, but we could add the third line there, where we've got winter '17/'18 being 10, '18/'19 being 13, '19/'20 being 10, and then 8 in 2021 and 6 in '21/'22.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So --


MS. CAILLE:  And this also shows the general service numbers I was talking about earlier.  So some of those would be larger commercial customers that fit in M2 as well.  It is not entirely residential, and you had been asking about residential, so we've got them grouped together.

MR. JANIGAN:  So a little over 50 percent is driving that demand from interruptible customers going firm?  Would that be -- would that be correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It looks like 46 out of 106.  So a little less than 50 percent --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So about -- okay.  A little under 50 percent.

Now, I take it -- it may be self-evident, but if there were no other changes in demand other than the residential load growth shown by table 5-3, this project wouldn't be required.  Am I correct on that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I think a different project would be required.  It would be a smaller project if it wasn't for the large greenhouse conversion IT to firm.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You still have growth in the new contracts and general service as well --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- but it is much smaller, obviously.

MR. JANIGAN:  On page 8 of the compendium, in response to JT1.24, you say that Union would not be able to attach new houses in 2017/2018 without this project.

If for some reason this project didn't go forward is that what would happen?  So Union would not -- or would Union not allow some interruptible customers to go firm?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The project didn't happen then none of the interruptible customers can go firm.  So that would be no to them as well.  But it would also be no to all other customers coming on the system as well.  The system is totally sold out as of November 1 of '17.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So the customers wouldn't -- the interruptible customers wouldn't be going firm and there would be no new residential customers, let's say?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No residential, no commercial, no industrial, no expansions of industrial.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  On page 11, in part (d) of Exhibit B of IGUA 1, on page 5 of that interrogatory there is a listing of the Panhandle system interruptions.  And it would appear that 2014/2015 was a bit of an anomaly with respect to interruptions.  Am I correct on that?

MS. CAILLE:  If you recall, that was the year of the polar vortex when it was very, very cold in Ontario, causing an increased amount of interruptions that winter.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. CAILLE:  But the following winter was quite a mild winter, and we still had to interrupt anyway.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  It would appear a lot less than 2014/2015, though.  Am I correct?

MS. CAILLE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  By the looks of these figures.

MS. CAILLE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did the number of interruptions and the duration of those interruptions have an effect upon the desire of interruptible customers to go firm?

MS. CAILLE:  I would say, yes, it did.  That was one factor.  There are a number of factors where customers will decide what service that they want to take.  Some is the not wanting to maintain an alternate fuel or another capability, the financial cost, as well as the maintenance of those systems.

Additionally, one of the things that Union applied to the Board to, and received approval, is a penalty for non-compliance.  If you don't comply to your contractual obligation to meet an interruption there is a financial penalty of $60 a gJ.

We had applied to the Board for that because of some customers not honouring their interruptible obligations, and it's a -- from a design perspective we rely on people honouring their contracts.  So that was another factor that influenced some customers in the market.

MR. JANIGAN:  And those that went from interruptible to firm, their commitment to firm delivery is a five-year commitment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  For those coming online in 2017.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. CAILLE:  For the customers that would have done it historically, it would depend on their individual circumstances.  So some would have one-year rolling agreements.  Some may have term agreements, if they did that conversion from interruptible to firm as part of Leamington phase 1 or Leamington phase 2 attachments of the distribution reinforcement projects that went in.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I am getting at is that if a number of customers, because of the interruptions in that particularly cold winter, switched to firm, might it be likely that they would switch back to interruptible after more regular winters occurred?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's been difficult for customers to get firm.  They have had to wait a year.  Even at this point in time, there is still a risk they might not get that.  So I think they will respect that and I think they will keep their firm rate, in my own view.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I take it when you were looking at the effect of greenhouse gas emission policies on asset life, your comparison is not to other fossil fuels.  It is to other energy alternatives that might exist and replace natural gas, either by fiat or by customer choice.

What I am getting at is that you have no expectation that natural gas will be a worse choice with respect to other carbon-based fuels in the future?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Natural gas should be the best choice, because the carbon intensity of natural gas is the lowest of all of the hydrocarbon fuels.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you expect that to remain that way?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  On page 22 of my compendium, with Exhibit B, Staff 2, part (b), you note that in spite of the uncertainty surrounding CCAP and incremental costs associated with cap and trade, customers are requesting more firm service and see the economic value of natural gas.


Doesn't that argue against your theory that CCAP will reduce the life of natural gas facilities?

MS. CAILLE:  I don't believe so.  When we're talking about, in Board Staff 4, that we have referred to a number of times, the short, medium and longer term, we're looking at that customers now are willing to contract for a five- year term and want to use natural gas.


I think Mr. Isherwood a number of times today has talked about that longer than 20 years is a far time away, and it becomes harder and harder to predict what will happen in that time frame.


MR. JANIGAN:  So you think it is a matter of the shorter term preference versus the longer term preference.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the other unknown is really the cost of carbon.  So there is a minimum threshold in 2017 at around $18 a tonne.  That adds almost a dollar a gJ to a customer's natural gas cost, and that goes up by four or five percent a year.


You know, we've heard the federal government wants a fifty dollar cost of carbon by 2022.  Depending on what the cost of carbon is, that will affect the economics of natural gas as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  I may have been -- be confused, but I know I had a discussion earlier with a number of parties associated with whether or not other natural gas utilities have chosen to significantly reduce asset leaf because of greenhouse gas policies.


I recall there was some examples given of where asset lives were reduced based on a number of different factors.


But were any of those associated with greenhouse gas policies?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  The two are just related to reduction in natural gas throughput, and I equated that to being the same effect of cap and trade in the Climate Change Action Plan will have an impact of reducing throughput as well.


So it is parallel from the point of view of both examples I gave also had reduced throughput, and cap and trade will have an impact in reducing throughput.


MR. JANIGAN:  As I recall, and I believe this is the correct number, but EB-2011-0210, the issue of Union's business risk was examined by the Board, I believe in proceedings that took place in 2012.  Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do not.  I wasn't involved in it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess what I would like to explore is that I believe you indicated that greenhouse gasses was a new topic that had to be considered associated with risk.

Now, my recollection over the last 25 years -- but particularly having heard from the environmental intervenors -- that greenhouse gases and carbon emissions has been steadily raised before this Board as a matter that had to be addressed, particularly to line-up Board policy with things like the Rio treaty, and a number of other climate agreements.


What is the difference between that and what you are putting forward today, in terms of potential future risk?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the difference for me is that it all stems really from the -- they call it the COP 21, but that was really the Paris accord that was struck about year ago in December of last year, where they got international agreement around the world to reduce carbon, trying to maintain the 2 degree impact, and that is translated into Ontario government coming out with regulations and legislation to enact meshes that will get Ontario on a path towards a low carbon economy -- actually being a leading jurisdiction in low carbon economy -- followed through with now cap and trade program that is a month and a week, or a month and two weeks away from being implemented.


I know this has been talked about at length over the years.  But I think we're now into a period where it is being enacted.  The government has committed to enacting it, and they have programs, and policies, and legislation to enact it.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it the cap and trade policy itself that provides the main risk?  Or is it the risk that is associated with a mandated phase-out of natural gas that drives your recommendation to reduce the asset lives?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the Climate Change Action Plan has been very careful not to go down a path of mandating a phase-out.  That is what was leaked in the Globe & Mail article, that natural gas would be eliminated from existing homes by 2050 and new homes by 2030.

That language has been softened, and it is really around the targets, the 80 percent reduction by 2015 and the 37 percent by 2030.


So it is really around the targets of reducing greenhouse gasses.  And even with natural gas, as I mentioned earlier on, but renewable natural gas can actually green the pipeline and up to 25 percent quite easily can be green and have no carbon impact.


So there are definitely alternatives that we need to bring forward, and that we need to be creative in developing new technologies around.


But it is definitely a government mandate to reduce 80 percent and that is different, that is new.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn to page 2 of my compendium.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Page 2, tab 1?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  That is -- wait a minute.  It is BOMA 3.  If that could be brought up?

And in BOMA 3, you show forecast growth by region growing the Chatham-Kent area by over 100 percent between 2018 and 2021.  It grows by over 60 percent between 2017 and 2021 in the Leamington/Kingsville area.


In light of the concerns expressed in this application about the impact of cap and trade and other greenhouse gas policies, what makes you so optimistic about this growth rate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we talk in Board Staff 4(c) -- it is the long answer around cap and trade, but we do think it will take time before you see a material difference in natural gas supply.  It's not going to happen in the first year of the plan, or even in the first for or five years.  It's really going to be in the later years, 15 through 20 and beyond 20, where you will see the bigger impacts to the  whole program.

MR. JANIGAN:  Further on page 14 of my compendium in response to BOMA 5, what you give me here is not exactly a really an optimistic view of the greenhouse operator expansion.

Given the greenhouse account managers -- you have heard about the operations moving to Ohio and other places -- what makes you believe the forecast growths will come to fruition?

MS. CAILLE:  So we did cite a couple of examples of customers that have looked to potentially relocate into Ohio, and there was information in the media that included two customers who have expanded there.  We have over 100 greenhouse operators, so it is a small portion of customers who have looked at exploring that.

As I mentioned earlier, we have already gone to the field to contract for customers looking for the initial 58 tJs of demand in the first year, and 37 tJs of that demand, customers are already agreeing to sign up the commitment.

So we do stand by our forecast.

In addition, the letter of support that was provided by OGVG indicated they expect 750 acres of greenhouse growth to continue, and that would be in the subsequent years, after the 2017/'18 winter, another 40 tJs of gas should that materialize.  Our forecast actually discounted that a little bit and was a little bit more conservative.

So we still believe the customers will commit to the pipeline and are already demonstrating that commitment through the contracts that we have out in the field.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, if you build this project and the demands in the greenhouse industry decline or the customers return to interruptible service, which customer classes would have to pick up the shortfall?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. MIKHAILA:  So as part of a rebasing, if there was a difference in demand forecast from what we have here, the cost of the Panhandle system would be borne by the allocation of costs there, which we will be reviewing as part of 2019.

But as part of this proposal, the costs of the Panhandle system are allocated to the rate classes on the Panhandle system.  So it would be other rate classes on the Panhandle system.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry if I have missed this in the evidence, but why was the particular number of 20 -- 20 years chosen for the new asset life of the project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was really a management decision.  As I've testified to, we have not completed any detailed studies or depreciation studies on the asset.  But we did look at the Climate Change Action Plan and looked out to 20 years, which, you know, 20 years on top of 2017 takes you to 2037.

And the Board -- sorry, not the Board, the government in their Climate Change Action Plan has building code changes starting to happen in 2020, and they specifically point out 2030 as being a period where they want to go to a net zero standard, which is a very efficient standard.  So that was one of the risks that we were looking at.

I also mentioned earlier on that 2037 is kind of halfway or part-way between the 2030 target the government has for reduction in CO2 and greenhouse gases and the 2050 target, and that 37 -- at the 37-year mark is about 50 percent of the greenhouse gas emissions would be reduced by then.

So a number of factors that kind of point to it.  But it is really our -- is those points, as well as our comfort around the forecasts, high confidence in the short- and medium-term, and we get less confident and less assured as we get out to that 15-, 20-year mark.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If you could turn up page 19 of my compendium, please.  It is noted here that the difference in the 20-year depreciation and the standard 50-year for the 2017/2018 period is the difference between 32 million and 18 million.

Is there anywhere in the evidence that shows what the difference would be by 2022?

MS. MIKHAILA:  There's nothing in evidence that goes out to 2022.

MR. JANIGAN:  Could you undertake to provide that to me, please?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  You would just like the difference in the depreciation during that time frame?  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  J13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE DIFFERENCE IN DEPRECIATION DURING THE TIME FRAME.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in the event that the 50-year depreciation rate ends up being used, associated with this project, and then your concerns about cap and trade or elimination of greenhouse gases come to fruition and the assets are not fully utilized until sometime after the twentieth year, who would pay then and how?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, your question is a 50-year depreciation is used?

MR. JANIGAN:  Used.  And your -- the assets are not fully utilized sometime after the twentieth year.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's really our concern, because what would happen is you rebase, the remaining customers would continue to pick up more and more of the cost, and there is always that story about the last man standing gets all the costs, and clearly you can't get to that situation.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the fear is that the cost of these stranded assets would be visited upon fewer and fewer customers --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  At some point it becomes unbearable.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I have some questions on a cost allocation.  And I believe my friends explored with you earlier that the effect of the proposed cost allocation is to not allocate any of the incremental costs of this project to the C1 and M16 rate classes.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if you turn up page 28 of my compendium, it notes here that, in response to BOMA 20, the Panhandle and St. Clair system are combined and functionalized because both systems provide transportation for ex-franchise customers to Dawn.

Now, does the Panhandle system continue to provide this functionality after this project is built?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  There are still existing C1 contracts.  However, those contracts flow from Ojibway to Dawn.  So they are counter-flow to the peak day demands of the Panhandle system and actually provide a benefit on peak day.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now --


MS. MIKHAILA:  But the -- sorry, I should mention, they're not actually considered in our actual peak day demands because they're not obligated contracts.  But to the extent they do flow, it does provide a benefit.

MR. JANIGAN:  Your point is that they don't require the facilities on design day.  But they still require the facilities, I take it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  They do use the facilities.  However, they do provide a benefit too.  So currently any incremental revenue over cost assigned does provide a benefit to -- we call that the S&T margin, and that actually reduces in-franchise customer rates.

So to the extent that the rate became so unbearable that we no longer had ex-franchise C1 activity, in-franchise customers would no longer get a benefit as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I believe on page 14 of my compendium, on page -- actually, 15 of the compendium, it -- on Table -- sorry.  I think I have that a little mixed up here.  Table 8-5.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What page?

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me just -- just give me a minute here.

I believe on page 29.  Yes.  Sorry about that.  I was looking at the tab 8, page 14.  It is actually on page 29 of my compendium.

If you used your prior allocation to update the C1 and M16 rate, am I correct that what Table 8-5 is showing that there will be a 323 percent increase in the C1 rate?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  The current methodology for deriving the C1 rate is just an average unit rate of both systems.  So when you add in the significant demand costs of this project to the current revenue requirement, it significantly increases the average unit rate of the combined system, which is why we found it necessary to propose something, to propose an alternate cost allocation for this project.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the danger here would be those customers would not be able to afford that rate and they would decontract and go elsewhere.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the counter-flow on design day is beneficial in terms of the -- of the margin?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It is beneficial to the extent there's activity on design day, but it is not obligated.  So there is not necessarily the benefit on design day.

However, any incremental revenue derived from that system is used as a credit to in-franchise customer rates.

So to maintain that market benefits in-franchise customers.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would also add that the expansion is happening because of the contract market in franchise; it is not being driven at all by the C1 market.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any sort of -- anything that illustrates what the difference is between the benefit in terms of the reduction of in-franchise rates to, in fact, the reduction of -- reduction of X franchise costs that's associated with not providing the allocation of the costs of the project, in an incremental fashion, to X franchise customers?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Are you specifically referring to this application, or just in general?

MR. JANIGAN:  This application.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, what is it you would like to see?

MR. JANIGAN:  I think you have indicated that there are benefits that are brought to the system by way of the counter flow that exists on design day by the ex-franchise customers.

And if you imported to them the costs, any incremental costs, those benefits would be threatened.

[Witness panel confers]


That might be too hypothetical a question.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we do have what the revenue is for the M16 and the C1, which is a benefit that provides the system.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be helpful.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Let me just look up this system specifically.  The BOMA 11 interrogatory; here we have provided both the Panhandle system and the St. Clair system, the allocated costs from 2013 as well as the forecast of revenue.

And so the margin that was included in rates since our 2013 rate basing is a total of 3.4 million.  That was credited to in-franchise customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I take it that any reduction of allocated in-franchise costs go 100 percent to the customers, whereas reductions in margin are split 90-10.  Am I correct on that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  This specific margin as part of rebasing is provided 100 percent to customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Thank you, panel, those are all of my questions.

MS. DUFF:  I just had one clarification question stemming from Mr. Janigan.

The undertaking response that you were providing Mr. Aiken, regarding what would be the impact on customer groups if you are using, I think it is 50 years and the previously-current or current Board-approved cost-allocation methodology.

I am just wondering what that is now.  Is it the cost-allocation methodology that includes C1 and M16?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  It would provide an allocation of costs based on the average unit rate.  That is the current methodology.

MS. DUFF:  And include customers in St. Clair?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it would.

MS. DUFF:  Is that what your understanding is?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

I think we are going to take a break right now, and --


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I think we're done except for your questions of this panel.  So you wish to take a break and consider that?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  That would be great.

MR. MILLAR:  Very well.

MS. DUFF:  Let's take 15 minutes and I am going to fix that clock before tomorrow.  As a presiding member, I get to do that.

We will reconvene in 15 minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:31 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  The Panel has some questions of panel number 1.  Mr. Pastirik?
Questions by the Board:

MR. PASTIRIK:  Yes.  I just had a question on the -- there have been a lot of questions today around the cost allocation changes.  I am just wondering if maybe you could go through two things.  One is, just kind of walk through your thinking in terms of making that change compared to what had been approved in the past, is one question.  And then, is there any other precedents where you have changed a cost allocation or put a proposal like that in sort of -- in the middle of -- before going to the Board?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sure.  So when we first started reviewing this project and we considered the Board-approved cost-allocation methodology, we found that the allocation to rate classes of the combined system, that -- including Panhandle and St. Clair, was not representative of the rate classes served by the Panhandle only.

And because the revenue requirement to the combined system was going to be so large, we felt it necessary to look at if that was still an appropriate allocation of costs.

So in doing that, we found that there are rate classes on the St. Clair system that have significant design day demands that were being allocated a large portion of costs for this project.  But those rate classes don't have the same proportion of demands on the Panhandle system.

So that is why we are proposing to use the Panhandle system design day demands only for this project.  But it is something that we will look at in 2019, because the use of the combined system no longer seems appropriate when we have such differences in costs of the two systems.

MR. PASTIRIK:  So do you have any other examples of where you have made a proposal like that and done a shift of your cost allocation?

MS. MIKHAILA:  So Union's 2014 to '18 IRM is the first IRM period that had even the capital pass-through mechanism.  So this is the first project that we have proposed something other than Board-approved, but it does appear that it was contemplated as part of the IRM settlement to allow for cost allocation other than Board-approved --


MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. MIKHAILA:  -- as we discussed earlier.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, great.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Spoel?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  Thank you.  I just have one question.  Going back to the excerpt from the settlement agreement, K1.5.  And looking at page 19, we talked about the issue of using the net delivery revenue requirement for the purpose of determining whether the rate impact threshold is met.  And I understand that.

But reading on down the bottom of that big paragraph, it also says the rate adjustment for each year will be based on the forecast net delivery revenue requirement impacts.

So I am just wondering whether there's a problem with -- which then of course are based on the depreciation expense to be calculated using 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates.  So I -- and of course, the Board is not a party to the settlement agreement itself.

But I am just wondering whether or not it is possible in this -- you think it is possible in this context to do a rate adjustment that is based on something other than using the 2013 Board-approved depreciation rates?  And this may be a question, Mr. Keizer, for you to address in argument, as opposed to the witnesses, but I just, I wanted to raise it --


MR. KEIZER:  We're happy to address that in argument.

MS. SPOEL:  -- now.  Okay.  That's really --


MR. KEIZER:  My sense is the interpretation of this agreement will be an issue in argument, so we are happy to address that.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, yeah, I thought it was only fair to raise our concern about it --


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, thank you, and --


MS. SPOEL:  -- so you could address it.

MR. KEIZER:  -- we appreciate that.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I just had one follow-up question really from Mr. Pastirik regarding the cost allocation again and the departure from the Board-approved methodology.  I see there being a couple of factors in play.

So one is the St. Clair segregation, I guess, or elimination, and I don't want to put words in your mouth, but were you saying that this is something that you will look at perhaps in future in terms of rate design or is it just for this project?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I expect we will address this in our 2019 rebasing for all of the system costs, both the St. Clair and the Panhandle.

In this proposal, we have not -- we have left the 2013 costs as they were allocated, using Board-approved.  But as I mentioned, the -- that allocation methodology did not seem appropriate for the significant amount of costs on the Panhandle system only, which is why we have proposed something different.

And because we're going to look at it and likely address -- or propose something -- a change in methodology in '19, we wanted to propose something for the interim period, being the 14 months before 2019 that was a reasonable allocation of costs, but also wouldn't create large, volatile rate changes between the implementation of this project and when we address the two systems in 2019.

So we didn't want to use the current Board-approved allocation methodology, which allocates more costs to, for example, the rate T2 class, and then in '19 propose a change to be more reflective of cost causality and then reduce the costs allocated to them in '19.  So something that was reasonable during this time period.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that.

And then -- so there's the isolation of the St. Clair. And then this basing it on peak day demand.  Is that -- was it that decision that came first and then you identified C1 and M16 and saying then because it is peak day demand then these ex-franchise customers that help to reduce peak -- could you tell me about that decision and if those decisions are contingent on each other?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sure.  So the current -- largely, costs are allocated to rate classes on the design day demands.  However, for the St. Clair and Panhandle system, which we call Ojibway-St. Clair, in order to recognize that the ex-franchise rate classes do use that system, we do allocate them a cost first using the average unit rate of the combined system and then allocate the remaining costs to in-franchise rate classes using the design day demands.

So when we applied that methodology, the cost allocated to ex-franchise was -- would increase the rate so significantly that recovery would be questioned, but also, we wanted to maintain that transportation activity, because there is a benefit to in-franchise rate customers, to the extent that ex-franchise customers use the system.

So if the rates were increased so significantly for us to recover our costs, we believe that market would disappear.

MS. DUFF:  Could you give me an example of those unit costs which you do allocate to C1, M16?  I am just not familiar with them.  Just give me an idea.

MS. MIKHAILA:  So currently how we derive the cost allocation to rate C1 and rate M16 is, we just take the total costs of the combined St. Clair and Panhandle system, divide it by the capacity of the system to arrive at a common unit rate.  We multiply that by the demands, the long-term demands, to allocate those costs to those rate classes, which then reduces the costs allocated to in-franchise customers.

MS. DUFF:  So as a result of Union's proposal, the unit cost would stay the same, there would be no change --


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- because the C1 and M16 rates are not being affected by your proposal?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, the current --


MS. DUFF:  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  -- rate design is that you -- the current rate design uses the combined system revenue requirement, not specifically the cost allocated to them.

So because it uses the combined, regardless of whether costs are allocated to them or not, the rate design would still increase, but we're proposing to not change it as a result of this project.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

In that interrogatory response from Mr. Aiken, if there is any, like, footnotes or any explanatory information that you can add to that, please go ahead and given my questions.  I just wanted to see if there is sequencing.  I will say it one more time.

The undertaking response that you are providing Mr. Aiken will just be including St. Clair?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It will just be the current cost allocation, which allocates the costs based on the combined system, and current Board-approved depreciation rates.  I am going to provide the bill impacts of that.

MS. DUFF:  OEB, that's clear, thank you very much.

I think we are adjourned for today.  Oh, sorry, Mr. Keizer.  Did you have any redirect for this panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Apparently not -- oh, there it goes.  No, we do not.

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I was following your logic and I was actually talking to Mr. Aiken during the break about that.

My understanding, and I want to get clarification, would you be including the C1 and M16 rate impacts in that interrogatory response?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  So the current Board-approved cost allocation methodology does allocate costs to those rate classes, and it will show up in that response.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That is the part I wanted to make sure we had clarity, because I think that was part of your concern, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  My confusion, yes.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, I can just mention that in tab 8, schedule -- oh, sorry, appendix B, schedule 3, does have the cost allocation impacts of the Board-approved cost allocation and Board-approved depreciation rates.

So we do have the allocation to rate classes as part of our evidence, but we will also provide the bill impacts as part of the undertaking.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, great.  Thank you very much.

So with that, any other questions?  Okay, the hearing is adjourned until tomorrow at 9:30, and which we will start with panel number 2.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:43 p.m.
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